

## **A Comprehensive Risk Prediction Model for Cirrhosis Decompensation Using a Large National Claims Database**

Dominic J. Vitello MD<sup>1</sup>, Federico Crippa PhD<sup>2</sup>, Gil Peled MS<sup>2</sup>, Saad Hussain MBBS<sup>1</sup>, Bima J. Hasjim MD<sup>1</sup>, Melvin Adams<sup>2</sup>, Filip Obradović PhD<sup>2</sup>, Paola A. Barrios MD MSAI<sup>1</sup>, Joy Obayemi MD<sup>1</sup>, **Joseph Shilati BS**, Aditya Jain MSc<sup>3</sup>, Kelly R. Bates BA<sup>1</sup>, Michael Gmeiner PhD<sup>4</sup>, Andrés Duarte-Rojo MD<sup>1,5</sup>, Laura Kulik MD<sup>1,6</sup>, Therese Banea MPH<sup>1</sup>, Oriana Dentici BA<sup>1</sup>, Eleena Koep MS<sup>7</sup>, Lihui Zhao PhD<sup>1,5</sup>, Lisa B. VanWagner MD<sup>8</sup>, Charles F. Manski PhD<sup>2,3</sup>, Daniela P. Ladner MD<sup>1,5</sup>

1. Northwestern University Transplant Outcomes Research Collaborative (NUTORC), 676 N Saint Clair St, Comprehensive Transplant Center (CTC), Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, Illinois, US 60611
2. Department of Economics, 2211 N Campus Dr, Northwestern University, Evanston, IL, US 60208
3. Institute for Policy Research, 2040 Sheridan Rd, Northwestern University, Evanston, IL, US 60208
4. London School of Economics and Political Science, Houghton St, London WC2A 2AE, UK
5. Division of Transplantation, 676 N Saint Clair St Ste 19-1900, Department of Surgery, Northwestern Medicine, Chicago, IL, US 60611
6. Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 676 N Saint Clair St Ste 2330, Department of Medicine, Northwestern Medicine, Chicago, IL, US 60611
7. UnitedHealth Group, 9700 Health Care Ln, Minnetonka, MN 55343
8. Division of Digestive and Liver Diseases, 8210 Walnut Hill Ln Ste 306, Department of Medicine, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA 75231

### **Corresponding Author:**

Daniela P. Ladner, MD, MPH

John Benjamin Murphy Professor of Surgery

Northwestern University Transplant Outcomes Research Collaborative (NUTORC)

Comprehensive Transplant Center, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University

676 North Saint Clair St., Suite 1900

Chicago, Illinois 60611

Phone: 312-695-1703, Fax: 312-695-9194, Email: [dladner@nm.org](mailto:dladner@nm.org)

**Conflict of Interest Statement**

Dr. VanWagner serves as an advisor for Numares, Novo-Nordisk and Gerson Lehrman Group, receives grant support from W.L. Gore & Associates and provides expert witness services outside the submitted work.

Other authors have no conflicts of interests to disclose.

**Declaration of Funding Source**

The R01DK131164 supported FO, PP, MG, AJ, FC, ZD, ADR, VR, LK, JD, TB, GM, MP, LZ, CFM, DPL. BJH was supported by NIH grant T32DK077662. PP and DJV were supported by the Steven J. Stryker, MD, Gastrointestinal Surgery Research and Education Endowment.

**Data sharing statement**

The data used in the findings of this study were made available by UnitedHealth Group. Restrictions apply to the availability of these data, which were used under license for this study. With publication, data may only be made available to other investigators for other similar retrospective analyses after approval of a proposal and with a signed data access agreement as applicable on an individualized basis upon reasonable inquiry to the corresponding author, contingent upon involvement and permission of the data provider. Data include deidentified participant data, data dictionary, and statistical analysis plan by way of a prescribed, universally agreed upon method of secure communication.

**Author Contributions**

Concept and design: Ladner, Manski  
Acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data: Vitello, Crippa, Peled, Adams, Hasjim, Gmeiner, Koep, Manski, Ladner  
Drafting of the manuscript: Vitello, Hussein, Crippa, Manski, Ladner  
Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: all authors  
Statistical analysis: Crippa, Manski, Ladner  
Obtained funding: Ladner, Manski  
Administrative, technical, or material support: Banea, Dentici  
Supervision: Ladner, Manski

**Abbreviations:**

AIDS: acquired immunodeficiency syndrome  
ALD: alcohol associated liver disease  
Alcohol+: alcohol associated liver disease plus another cirrhosis etiology  
Alcohol+HCV: alcohol associated liver disease and hepatitis C virus associated liver disease  
CHF: congestive heart failure  
CKD: chronic kidney disease  
COM: commercial insurance  
COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease  
CVA: cerebrovascular accident  
DM: diabetes mellitus

HBV: hepatitis B associated cirrhosis  
HCV: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis  
HCV+: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis plus another cirrhosis etiology  
HD: hemodialysis  
HE: hepatic encephalopathy  
HPS: hepatopulmonary syndrome  
HRS: hepatorenal syndrome  
MA: Medicare Advantage  
MASLD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease  
MetALD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease with increased alcohol intake  
MI: myocardial infarction  
Other: one other cirrhosis etiology not otherwise specified  
Other 2+: two or more other cirrhosis etiologies not otherwise specified  
PAD: peripheral arterial disease  
PUD: peptic ulcer disease  
SBP: spontaneous bacterial peritonitis  
SD: standard deviation  
VB: variceal bleeding

Manuscript word count 3,183/3,500

## **ABSTRACT**

**Background:** Care for patients with cirrhosis is chronic and complex. There are no tools available to stratify decompensation risk in a general cirrhosis population. The primary aim was to develop a model for decompensation risk that can be used as a clinical decision support tool.

**Methods:** A large, national, insurance, claims database was used to conduct a retrospective cohort study of patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis between 2012 and 2022. ICD-9, -10, and CPT codes were used to identify demographics, cirrhosis etiology, and laboratory values. Multivariable logistic regression was used to predict 6- and 12-month decompensation risk. The model was internally temporally cross-validated.

**Findings:** 188,526 patients were included. Among other etiologies, 47.1% had metabolic dysfunction-associated liver disease (MASLD), 12.2% had MASLD with increased alcohol intake (MetALD), 8.3% had biliary cirrhosis, and 2.1% had alcohol-associated liver disease (ALD). 9,841 (5.2%) and 18,907 (11.3%) decompensated by 6 and 12 months respectively. The model had excellent calibration, with an average deviance between observed and predicted of 0.0063. The 12-month decompensation risk was highest for those with ALD (OR 1.9 95% CI 1.6-2.3) and MetALD (OR 1.3 95% CI 1.1-1.5), and lowest for those with biliary cirrhosis (OR 0.5 95% CI 0.4-0.6). The presence of hepatocellular carcinoma (OR 1.9 95% CI 1.6-2.2) or chronic kidney disease requiring dialysis (OR 1.4 95% CI 1.1-1.7) conferred substantial increases in risk.

**Interpretation:** The model accurately predicts 6- and 12-month decompensation using clinicodemographic factors available to clinicians at baseline. The associated risk calculator may be used by clinicians to identify patients in need of escalated or deescalated care, including transplant. Future work will investigate identification of patients that benefit most from specialist referral and transplant listing.

**Funding:** R01DK131164 supported: FO, PP, MG, AJ, FC, ZD, ADR, VR, LK, JD, TB, GM, MP, LZ, CFM, DPL. T32DK077662 supported BJH.

Word count: 300/300

## INTRODUCTION

An estimated 2 to 7 million adults in the United States are affected by cirrhosis.<sup>1-4</sup> This prevalence is projected to increase significantly over the next decade, particularly due to metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease (MASLD) and MASLD with increased alcohol intake (MetALD).<sup>1,5-7</sup> As the average survival for compensated patients is 12 years, patients with cirrhosis require chronic, complex, and longitudinal care. This care involves specialty consultation, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) surveillance, and prevention and management of decompensation.<sup>(REF)</sup> Decompensation is associated with increased morbidity and mortality and is extremely resource intensive and costly, often requiring procedures or hospitalizations.<sup>11</sup>

Despite the severity of decompensation, there is a lack of comprehensive and validated understanding as to how cirrhosis etiologies and clinical factors influence risk. Prior studies have investigated subpopulations such as those within the Veterans Administration Health System (VHS), which phenotypically are unique with higher rates of chronic disease, lower socioeconomic status and older age compared to the general US population<sup>(REF)</sup>, or patients listed for transplant, which is a highly biased sample and represents only 2% of all patients with cirrhosis<sup>(REF)</sup>.<sup>12,13</sup> To our knowledge, no study has examined a generalizable, national population of patients with cirrhosis. As such, there are also no tools available for the stratification of decompensation risk, which could ultimately be used for the selection of patients for specialty care, preventative services, and transplant.

Given the need for a more comprehensive understanding of decompensation risk, the primary aim of this study is to investigate the association of demographic and clinical factors with decompensation. The secondary aim was to create a clinical decision-support tool to ascertain the risk of decompensation. The outcomes of interest were 6- and 12-month

**Commented [PBM1]:** Tapper EB, Parikh ND. Diagnosis and Management of Cirrhosis and Its Complications: A Review. *JAMA*. 2023;329(18):1589–1602. doi:10.1001/jama.2023.5997

Abraldes JG, Caraceni P, Ghabril M, Garcia-Tsao G. Update in the Treatment of the Complications of Cirrhosis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2023;21(8):2100–2109. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2023.03.019

**Commented [DPL2]:** also reference a paper that describes what decompensation entails.

**Commented [PBM3R2]:** Liver cirrhosis  
Ginès, Pere et al.  
*The Lancet*, Volume 398, Issue 10308, 1359 - 1376

**Commented [PBM4]:** VHS cirrhosis patients are 97% male, have high prevalence of Hep C and ALD.

Kanwal F, Hernaez R, Liu Y, et al. Factors Associated With Access to and Receipt of Liver Transplantation in Veterans With End-stage Liver Disease. *JAMA Intern Med*. 2021;181(7):949–959. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.2051

**Commented [PBM5R4]:** Agha, Zia, Richard P. Lofgren, Jerome V. VanRuiswyk, and Peter M. Layde. "Are Patients at Veterans Affairs Medical Centers Sicker?: A Comparative Analysis of Health Status and Medical Resource Use." *Archives of Internal Medicine* 160, no. 21 (2000): 3252–57. <https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.160.21.3252>.

**Commented [PBM6R4]:** Rogal SS, Yakovchenko V, Gonzalez R, Park A, Lamorte C, Gibson SP, Chartier M, Ross D, Comstock E, Bajaj JS, Morgan TR. Characterizing patient-reported outcomes in veterans with cirrhosis. *PLoS One*. 2020 Sep 11;15(9):e0238712. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0238712. PMID: 32915828; PMCID: PMC7485762.

**Commented [DPL7]:** here the ref should be our prevalence paper from PLOS One

**Commented [PBM8R7]:** Mohammadi, Mohsen, Bima J. Hasjim, Salva N. Balbale, et al. "Disease Trajectory and Competing Risks of Patients with Cirrhosis in the US." *PloS One* 20, no. 2 (2025): e0313152. <https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0313152>.

decompensation in baseline compensated patients with cirrhosis and the factors associated with decompensation.

## **METHODS**

### **Study Design**

A retrospective, longitudinal cohort study of claims data from a large national insurer in the United States between July 1, 2011, and July 1, 2024 was conducted. The study follows the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) reporting guideline for cohort studies and the transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD) statement (Supplemental Table 1 and 2).<sup>14,15</sup> The PROBAST tool was also used to minimize prediction model bias (Supplemental Table 3). The Northwestern University Institutional Review Board deemed this study exempt from review and waived the need for patient informed consent. The database included de-identified medical and pharmacy claims data for enrollees with various plan types. Available data included claims for all medical services and prescription medications that were submitted to the insurer for payment, patient diagnoses, and, when available, linked laboratory results.

### **Study Participants**

Patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis enrolled under any insurance plan type and at least 6 months of follow up were included in the analysis (Figure 1). The date of identification of cirrhosis was taken to be the index date and beginning of observation. The end of observation was defined as the time of decompensation, transplant, disenrollment from the database, or the end of the 6- or 12-month follow-up periods. To allow for adequate baseline and follow up periods, only patients identified with cirrhosis between January 1, 2012 and December 30, 2022 were selected.

Patients with cirrhosis were identified as having at least one claim under any plan specifying a validated cirrhosis code from the International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision (ICD-9) or 10<sup>th</sup> Revision (ICD-10) (571.2, 571.5, 571.6, K70.30, K70.31, K74.0, K74.60, K74.69, K74.3, K74.4, K74.5) in any position on the claim (Figure 1).<sup>16–21</sup> Cirrhosis

etiologies were defined by at least one claim specifying an ICD-9 or -10 code for: alcohol-associated (ALD), metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease (MASLD, previously non-alcoholic steatohepatitis/NASH), hepatitis B virus (HBV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), biliary cirrhosis (e.g., primary sclerosing cholangitis, primary biliary cirrhosis), cardiac cirrhosis, genetic cirrhosis, and autoimmune hepatitis. Patients were categorized by mutually exclusive cirrhosis etiologies. Patients with ALD, HCV, or multiple etiologies were categorized using a hierarchical algorithm as shown in Supplemental Figure 1. Of note, MASLD/NASH did not have a dedicated ICD code prior to October 1, 2015. For data prior to October 1, 2015, MASLD/NASH was identified using a previously published algorithm (patients without specific cirrhosis etiology plus obesity, dyslipidemia, diabetes, and/or hypertension).<sup>18,22</sup> Validated ICD-9/-10 codes were used to define comorbidities, and quantify the Charlson Comorbidity Index.<sup>23,24</sup>

#### Medical and Pharmacy Claims

Medical claims were collected from all encounter and service types, including specialty, preventive, emergency, and office-based services. Medical claims including ICD-9 and ICD-10 code, procedure codes, Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System (HCPCS), Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes and modifiers, Diagnosis-related Group (DRG) codes, place of service codes, provider specialty codes, revenue codes, deidentified provider and patient codes, charges, and detailed paid amounts were analyzed.

Pharmacy claims were submitted by pharmacies at the time of dispensing, accounting for all covered prescribed medications. Pharmacy claims contain data on outpatient prescriptions including drug names, dosages, number of days supplied, deidentified prescriber or patient codes, and detailed paid amounts.

**Commented [PBM9]:** Supplement 1 needs to change to reflect the changes in how we categorized etiologies. Please also edit this paragraph accordingly

**Commented [PBM10R9]:** @saad add relevant citations



### Identifying Decompensation

Patients with 6- and 12-months of follow up were analyzed for the presence of any one event indicating cirrhosis decompensation in these timeframes. To avoid misidentifying patients who were decompensated at baseline as compensated, due to lag in charting codes in medical records, decompensation within the first 90 days of cirrhosis identification were considered to have occurred at baseline.<sup>25</sup> Decompensation was considered to be a claim listing a previously published, or where possible validated, ICD-9, ICD-10, or CPT code indicating ascites, hepatic encephalopathy (HE), variceal bleeding (VB), hepatorenal syndrome (HRS), spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP), or hepatopulmonary syndrome (HPS). Etiology of decompensation was not considered to be mutually exclusive.

### Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were generated for baseline demographics including age, sex, insurance plan type, cirrhosis etiology, comorbidities, laboratory values. Rates were reported for decompensation and its etiology. Categorical variables are reported as the percentage of the cohort with associated number of patients. Continuous variables are reported as mean (standard deviation [SD]) or median (interquartile range [IQR]). A multivariable logistic regression model was created to predict the individualized risk of cirrhosis decompensation within 6- and 12-months of cirrhosis identification.

The model was created by selecting covariates based on clinical and literature reported relevance. Covariates used included baseline demographics as categorical variables and laboratory values as continuous. Those with missing laboratory values were excluded from the model. A sensitivity analysis was conducted comparing model performance with and without laboratory values (Supplementary Figures 4a and 4b). A 20-year-old male patient with MASLD, no comorbid conditions, and normal laboratory values was considered the reference. The model

was internally temporally cross validated by using patients identified from 2012 to 2019 as a training cohort and those identified from 2020 to 2022 as the validation cohort. Model validation was assessed by reporting model calibration (risk estimates) and model discrimination (receiver-operating characteristic). A sensitivity analysis was conducted by performing the validation procedure with interaction terms as detailed in the Supplemental Material.

The final model was then estimated using the entire cohort. This final output was reported in forest plots as odds ratios (ORs) with associated 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for categorical variables as well as estimated decompensation risks. Calibration of the model was evaluated by comparing observed and predicted probabilities of decompensation across percentiles. The influence of continuous variables was displayed as changes in estimated risk using marginal effects plots. Descriptive tables were generated to show demographic information for patients at low risk of 12-month decompensation (<5<sup>th</sup> and 20<sup>th</sup> percentile) and high risk (>80<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentile). Significant predictors of decompensation as well as those of clinical interest were selected to create risk tables based on cirrhosis etiology, comorbid conditions, and laboratory values. A sensitivity analysis was conducted to confirm similar model performance. These predictors were then used to create a parsimonious version of the model. This version of the model was converted into a risk calculator and made available online to be used as a clinical decision support tool. P-values were calculated using Fisher's exact test and Welch's t-tests. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed using Stata 18.5, College Station, Texas.

## RESULTS

### Demographics

The cohort included 189,518 patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis (Figure 1), mean follow up time 4.2 (SD: 2.6) years, with a mean age of 63.3 and of which 49.3 % were female. Most patients were enrolled in Medicare Advantage (MA) plans (59.7%, N=113,078),

**Commented [PBM11]:** addition to methods for how Melvin calculated calibration. please edit as needed for accuracy

**Commented [PBM12]:** does this correctly explain what we did in terms of interaction terms? add detail as needed @melvin, federico

**Commented [PBM13]:** included this here per Melvin, please check for accuracy and edit as needed

**Commented [PBM14]:** i dont see this in any tables. where can i find?

and the mean Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) was 5.9 (3.2). Among the components of the CCI conditions, 39.9% (N=75,643) had uncomplicated diabetes mellitus (DM), 30.1% (N=56,956) chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), 20.0% (N=37,837) peripheral arterial disease (PAD), and 19.8% (N=37,432) complicated DM among others (Table 1). Cirrhosis etiologies were MASLD for 46.8% (N=88,673), HCV for 11.9% (N=22,544), MetALD for 5.3% (N=9,974), biliary disease for 5.8% (N=11,290), ALD for 3.5% (N=6,537) and Other for 2.1% (N=3,922) (Table 1). The median platelet count was 182,000 (52,000-312,000) per  $\mu\text{L}$ , sodium of 140 (136-144) mEq/L, creatinine 0.80 (0.52-1.26) mg/dL, albumin of 2.13 (1.07-3.19) g/dL, international normalized ratio (INR) of 1.1 (0.9-1.3), and bilirubin 0.7 (0-1.4) mg/dL. The median (IQR) Model for End Stage Liver Disease 3.0 (MELD) was 11 (6-16) (Supplemental Table 2b).

#### Decompensation

In the cohort, 212,716 patients had at least 6 months of follow-up and 189,518 had at least 12 months of follow-up. Among the cohort, 10,759 (5.1%) decompensated by 6 months and 20,684 (10.9%) by 12 months (Table 2). Patients that decompensated within 12 months most frequently had ALD (27.8%; N=1,826), MetALD (18.5%; n=1846), or MASLD (10.8%; N=9,587). Ascites (43.1%, N=8,918), variceal bleeding (VB) (35.5%, N=7,347), and hepatic encephalopathy (HE) (24.3%, N=5,021) were the most frequent decompensating events for the 12-month cohort.

When compared to patients at lowest risk for 12-month decompensation (<5<sup>th</sup> percentile), those in the highest risk group (>95<sup>th</sup> percentile) were older (54 years vs 65 years old), more likely to be male (32.6% vs 65.1%), more enrolled in MA plans (38.3% vs 70.0%), and had a higher CCI (4.1 vs 6.5) (Table 1). Almost all investigated comorbidities were universally more frequent for those with the highest decompensation risk compared to the

**Commented [PBM15]:** at inclusion or when is this MELD calculated?

**Commented [PBM16]:** Supplemental table labeling needs to be fixed by Melvin so i know where to pull info from

lowest. Patients with the lowest decompensation compared to highest risk, had biliary cirrhosis more frequently (38.1% vs 0.01%,  $p < 0.05$ ), ALD least frequently (0% vs 61.3%) (Table 1).

**Commented [PBM17]:** need to discuss this with Ladner

#### Model for Decompensation Risk

The 6-month model demonstrated that, after adjusting for covariates, patients with ALD (OR 3.2 95% CI \*\*\*) and MetALD (OR 1.7 95% CI \*\*\*) had the highest odds of decompensation at 6 months. Patients with biliary (OR 0.5 95% CI \*\*\*) and viral etiologies (HBV OR 0.7 95% \*\*\*, HC OR 0.8 95% CI \*\*\*) had lower odds of decompensation. Comorbid conditions generally increased decompensation risk, with the greatest contributors being severe renal disease (OR 1.35 95% CI \*\*\*) and congestive heart failure (CHF) (OR 1.3 95% CI \*\*\*) (Figure 2a). A similar trend in risk factors is observed for the 12-month model (Figure 2b). Additionally, increasing age was associated with increasing risk, reaching a plateau at age 65 (Figure 3a). Similarly, laboratory findings were associated with decompensation risk, particularly baseline hyponatremia, thrombocytopenia, and hypoalbuminemia as well as higher baseline creatinine, international normalized ratio (INR), and total bilirubin (Figures 3b-g).

**Commented [PBM18]:** was still the highest, but used to have an OR of 1.7 and now 3.2. MetALD is still second highest and used to have an odds ratio of 1.3 and now its 1.73

Calibration was evaluated by comparing observed and predicted probabilities of decompensation across percentiles and the average deviance between these values was 0.0063, indicating close agreement between model predictions and observed outcomes (Figure 4; Supplemental Tables 4a and 4b). The sensitivity analysis revealed that, irrespective of the inclusion of interaction terms, model calibration and discrimination were similar (Supplemental Fig 1, 3, and 4; Supplemental Tables 4a and 4b; Supplemental Figures 4a and 4b). Upon conducting the sensitivity analysis of the parsimonious model, performance was found to be similar to that of the full model.

**Commented [PBM19]:** Oh also the “with interactions” is interacting with ALD, HBV, 2+ Etiology, Unknown, and Other to be in line with the old etiologies. Unknown includes patients whom their etiology is not known at dx.

**Commented [PBM20R19]:** sensitivity analyses needs to be described in methods

**Commented [DPL21]:** Quantify

**Commented [PBM22R21]:** Melvin to quantify

Tables 3a-3c show examples of estimated 12-month decompensation risks for patients across the MELD score tertile distribution within the cohort (MELD 9, 16 21) using or model. The 12-month risk for patients with no comorbid conditions and a MELD of 9, was 24.9% for MASLD, 15.2% for ALD, 7.2% for MetALD, 5.8% for HCV, 4.9% for HBV and 6.7% for biliary cirrhosis (Table 3a). Comorbidities were associated with differences in risk consistent with the corresponding ORs. For example, patients with a MELD of 9, ALD, and AIDS had a 12-month decompensation risk of 28.3% (Table 3a). Comorbidities were associated with higher decompensation risk across etiologies, so that patients with biliary cirrhosis, a MELD of 9 and AIDS still were at comparatively lower risk (8.3%) (Table 1. Increasing MELD increased all risks, which was also proportional (Tables 1a-1c). For example a patient with ALD, a MELD of 21 and severe renal disease had a 12-month risk of 50.0%, while the same risk for a patient with biliary cirrhosis was less than half of this at 22.0% (Table 1c).

## **DISCUSSION**

Cirrhosis remains significant and increasing in its clinical impact in the United States.<sup>1-4</sup> Despite this, its natural history is poorly understood.<sup>26</sup> We found that 5.2% of patients decompensate by 6 months and 10.9% decompensate by 12 months after the diagnosis of cirrhosis. Cirrhosis etiology, comorbid conditions, and laboratory findings influenced these decompensation risks. Furthermore, models based on these factors resulted in accurate risk estimates. Importantly, patients with MASLD, MetALD, and ALD were at increased risk, particularly those with severe renal disease and CHF. While increasing MELD was associated with increased risk, many patients with low MELD scores had over a 30% risk to decompensate within 12 months. These findings deemphasize the utility of MELD to diagnose decompensation.<sup>27,28</sup> It also emphasizes the need for early decompensation risk assessment, as patients with increased decompensation risk will benefit from targeted use of specialist (which

**Commented [PBM23]:** confirm these tables melvin gave are MELD 9, 12, 21

**Commented [PBM24]:** for Dom, I am not sure what you are trying to point out here?

exist in limited numbers) for optimization of care, as well as escalation or de-escalation of care.<sup>29–33</sup>

While many studies have examined the natural history of cirrhosis, few have done so in a general and generalizable cirrhosis population. Among these is a notable systematic review by D'Amico et al. published in 2006.<sup>34</sup> The authors analyzed decompensation for patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis in two prospective cohorts. While the annual rate of decompensation over 10 years of follow-up was 5% to 7%, the rates within the first 6 and 12 months were approximately 9% and 13.6%, respectively. Our findings show that patients decompensate at a rate of 5.2% within 6 months and 11.3% within 12 months higher as would be expected. First, the cohort described by D'Amico et al is a European cohort from the 1980's and the risk factors for decompensation were not analyzed. The disease epidemiology has changed significantly since then, and so have available medications (e.g., hcv treatment – ref). Most importantly, however, the D'Amico cohort was followed by specialists (gastroenterologists, hepatologists), while this is a natural cohort of patients with cirrhosis – many of which do not receive specialty care. It has been shown that specialty care does improve outcomes for patients with cirrhosis.<sup>29,33,35</sup> Unfortunately, not enough specialists exist to support the 2-5M adult patients with cirrhosis. Hence, identifying those at highest risk is particularly important to prioritize patients who will benefit from specialty care and will likely progress to the highly morbid and lethal state of decompensation.<sup>29</sup>

A recent systematic review identified 16 studies describing the development of models for the prediction of liver decompensation.<sup>36</sup> Intentioned to find clinically useful models, the review highlights significant concerns or limitations in 14 of the 16 studies identified. These limitations commonly included strict cohort definitions, small cohort sizes, and unmet statistical reporting standards.<sup>37–43</sup> Unfortunately, the model that was deemed most clinically ready for implementation (the ANTICIPATE-LRE model) predicted the occurrence of decompensation or

development of HCC, limiting specific clinical utility towards decompensation and ignores these two entities as distinct in pathophysiology, prognosis and management. To improve upon these limitations, we focused on predicting hepatic decompensation among all patients with cirrhosis in a large, national cohort (Figure 1). We further used available tools to comprehensively report methods and findings (Supplementary Tables 1a-1c).

To this end we included over 160,000 patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis inclusive of a variety of etiologies based on updated nomenclature definitions.<sup>44</sup> The validated model had excellent calibration, with risk estimates within 0.5% of the observed frequency on average (Figure 2). Among all patients, those in the lowest 5<sup>th</sup> percentile had a less than 3% risk of decompensation at 12 months. Conversely those in the highest 5<sup>th</sup> percentile had a risk of over 29%. Contrasting these subgroups showed that high risk patients tended to be older (66 versus 52), male (56% versus 37%), insured under an MA plan (69% versus 31%), and have a higher CCI (7.4 versus 3.6) (Tables 1a and 1b). This analysis also revealed that etiology significantly influenced risk. Patients with MASLD, MetALD, ALD, HCC, and severe renal disease were at high risk for decompensation, while those with biliary cirrhosis and HCV were at lower risk (Figures 3a and 3b). In some instances, the difference in risk based on etiology alone was substantial. For example, patients with ALD had a 14.5% risk of decompensation within 12 months, whereas those with biliary cirrhosis only had a 4.6% risk (Table 3a). However, the combination of cirrhosis etiology, comorbid conditions, and laboratory findings offered the deepest insight into anticipated hepatic dysfunction (Supplemental Figure 3).

The model demonstrated that laboratory values significantly influence the risk of decompensation. As anticipated, laboratory findings suggestive of more severe liver dysfunction, such as hyponatremia, thrombocytopenia, and hypoalbuminemia all conferred an increase in risk (Figures 4b-g). In isolation, this finding generally aligns with the increasing degree of liver dysfunction for patients with higher MELD scores.<sup>45,46</sup> However, our model shows that sole reliance on MELD as a surrogate indicator for liver dysfunction may provide clinicians

with false reassurance. We estimated decompensation risks for patients in our cohort with MELDs of 9, 16, and 21 corresponding to estimated 90-day mortalities of 0.6%, 6.7%, and 24.8% respectively.<sup>47</sup> For patients with ALD and a MELD of 9, the minimum risk of decompensation was 14%, which increased to nearly 19% if severe renal disease was also present (Table 3a). For patients with a MELD of 16, risks were even higher, with 26% of patients with MASLD and 32% of patients with MetALD predicted to decompensate within 12 months. These risks are especially significant given that a MELD of less than 20 is generally held to be “low” and unlikely to result in waitlisting or transplantation.<sup>48,49</sup>

Clinically applicable risk stratification for hepatic decompensation holds the potential to change clinical practice. Because of the clinical utility of this model and its potential use, we created a risk calculator that is available for clinicians to use to assess individualized risk of decompensation (<https://gil-peled.github.io/UHG/index.html>). Future work will include the use of the risk calculator to determine which patients benefit most from, referral for subspecialty consultation, institution preventative measures such as statins or beta-blockers, and listing for transplant.

## **LIMITATIONS**

This study should be interpreted in the context of its limitations. The analyses focus on patients within the United States enrolled with one, large national insurer. Hence, the results may differ from patients who are uninsured. However, it allows comparison of outcomes in a population with financially equitable care. Also, the retrospective nature of the study necessitates reliance upon the accuracy of ICD-9, -10 and CPT codes for the diagnosis of cirrhosis. However, by only using codes that have been validated in the literature to capture patients with cirrhosis we are able to optimize the validity of the results, enhancing its reproducibility.<sup>16–18,21,22,50</sup> Lastly, it is not possible to collect information on patients after they disenroll. For this reason, only patients with adequate follow-up time were included in the risk



prediction model. However, by restricting the cohort to patients with adequate follow-up offers precise, time-bound risk estimates at 6 and 12 months, which may enhance its utility for informed clinical decision-making.

## **CONCLUSIONS**

Cirrhosis remains significant and increasing in its clinical impact in the United States. Despite this, its natural history is poorly understood. We constructed a temporally validated model for 6- and 12-month decompensation risk prediction for patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis. Patients most likely to decompensate were those with MASLD, MetALD, ALD, severe renal disease or HCC, and laboratory findings suggestive of greater hepatic dysfunction. Those with biliary cirrhosis and HCV were at lower risk. The associated risk calculator may be used by clinicians to aid in shared decision-making. Future work will aim to maximize benefit of the calculator in clinical management.

## **Acknowledgements**

The authors wish to acknowledge UnitedHealth Group Center for Healthcare Research for ensuring access to the data. Northwestern University Transplant Outcomes Research Collaborative (NUTORC) provided IRB support and coordination.

## REFERENCES

1. Ladner DP, Gmeiner M, Hasjim BJ, et al. Increasing prevalence of cirrhosis among insured adults in the United States, 2012–2018. *PLoS One* 2024;19(2):e0298887.
2. Beste LA, Leipertz SL, Green PK, Dominitz JA, Ross D, Ioannou GN. Trends in Burden of Cirrhosis and Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Underlying Liver Disease in US Veterans, 2001–2013. *Gastroenterology* 2015;149(6):1471–1482.e5.
3. Moon AM, Singal AG, Tapper EB. Contemporary Epidemiology of Chronic Liver Disease and Cirrhosis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* Nov 2020;18(12):2650–66.
4. Browning JD, Szczepaniak LS, Dobbins R, et al. Prevalence of hepatic steatosis in an urban population in the United States: Impact of ethnicity. *Hepatology* [Internet] 2004 [cited 2023 May 8];40(6):1387–95. Available from: <https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/hep.20466>
5. Younossi Z, Anstee QM, Marietti M, et al. Global burden of NAFLD and NASH: Trends, predictions, risk factors and prevention. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2018;15(1):11–20.
6. Estes C, Razavi H, Loomba R, Younossi Z, Sanyal AJ. Modeling the epidemic of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease demonstrates an exponential increase in burden of disease. *Hepatology* (Baltimore, Md) [Internet] 2018 [cited 2022 Sept 4];67(1):123–33. Available from: <https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28802062/>
7. Grant BF, Chou SP, Saha TD, et al. Prevalence of 12-Month Alcohol Use, High-Risk Drinking, and DSM-IV Alcohol Use Disorder in the United States, 2001–2002 to 2012–2013: Results From the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *JAMA Psychiatry* [Internet] 2017 [cited 2022 Aug 30];74(9):911–23. Available from: <https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapsychiatry/fullarticle/2647079>
8. Younossi ZM, Blissett D, Blissett R, et al. The economic and clinical burden of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the United States and Europe. *Hepatology* (Baltimore, Md) [Internet] 2016 [cited 2022 Sept 4];64(5):1577–86. Available from: <https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27543837/>
9. Kim D, Cholaneril G, Li AA, et al. Trends in hospitalizations for chronic liver disease-related liver failure in the United States, 2005–2014. *Liver International* [Internet] 2019 [cited 2021 July 18];39(9):1661–71. Available from: <https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/liv.14135>
10. Asrani SK, Hall L, Hagan M. Trends in Chronic Liver Disease-Related Hospitalizations: A Population-Based Study. *Am J Gastroenterol* Jan 2019;114(1):98–106.
11. Obradovic F, Vitello D, Hasjim B, et al. Comparing the Cost of Cirrhosis to Other Common Chronic Diseases: A Longitudinal Study in A Large National Insurance Database. *Hepatology*
12. Mahmud N, Fricker Z, Lewis JD, Taddei TH, Goldberg DS, Kaplan DE. Risk Prediction Models for Postoperative Decompensation and Infection in Patients With Cirrhosis: A

Veterans Affairs Cohort Study. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2022;20(5):e1121–34.

13. Schneider ARP, Schneider CV, Schneider KM, et al. Early prediction of decompensation (EPOD) score: Non-invasive determination of cirrhosis decompensation risk. *Liver International* 2022;42(3):640–50.
14. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) Statement: Guidelines for Reporting Observational Studies. *Epidemiology* [Internet] 2007 [cited 2023 July 2];18(6):800. Available from: [https://journals.lww.com/epidem/Fulltext/2007/11000/The\\_Strengthening\\_the\\_Reporting\\_of\\_Observational.27.aspx](https://journals.lww.com/epidem/Fulltext/2007/11000/The_Strengthening_the_Reporting_of_Observational.27.aspx)
15. Collins GS, Reitsma JB, Altman DG, Moons KG. Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): the TRIPOD Statement. *BMC Medicine* 2015;13(1):1.
16. Goldberg DS, Lewis JD, Halpern SD, Weiner MG, Re VL. Validation of a coding algorithm to identify patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in an administrative database. *Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety* [Internet] 2013 [cited 2022 Sept 4];22(1):103–7. Available from: <https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23124932/>
17. Shearer JE, Gonzalez JJ, Min T, et al. Systematic review: development of a consensus code set to identify cirrhosis in electronic health records. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics* [Internet] 2022 [cited 2023 Jan 30];55(6):645–57. Available from: <https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/apt.16806>
18. Corey KE, Kartoun U, Zheng H, Shaw SY. Development and Validation of an Algorithm to Identify Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in the Electronic Medical Record. *Digestive diseases and sciences* [Internet] 2016 [cited 2022 Sept 4];61(3):913–9. Available from: <https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26537487/>
19. Nehra MS, Ma Y, Clark C, Amarasingham R, Rockey DC, Singal AG. Use of administrative claims data for identifying patients with cirrhosis. *Journal of clinical gastroenterology* [Internet] 2013 [cited 2022 Sept 4];47(5):e50–4. Available from: <https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23090041/>
20. Lapointe-Shaw L, Georgie F, Carlone D, et al. Identifying cirrhosis, decompensated cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma in health administrative data: A validation study. *PLOS ONE* [Internet] 2018 [cited 2023 Jan 30];13(8):e0201120. Available from: <https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0201120>
21. Hayward KL, Johnson AL, Mckillen BJ, et al. ICD-10-AM codes for cirrhosis and related complications: key performance considerations for population and healthcare studies. *BMJ Open Gastroenterology* [Internet] 2020 [cited 2023 Jan 30];7(1):e000485. Available from: <https://bmjopengastro.bmj.com/content/7/1/e000485>
22. Hagström H, Adams LA, Allen AM, et al. Administrative Coding in Electronic Health Care Record-Based Research of NAFLD: An Expert Panel Consensus Statement. *Hepatology* [Internet] 2021 [cited 2022 Nov 8];74(1):474–82. Available from: <https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/hep.31726>

23. Quan H, Li B, Couris CM, et al. Updating and Validating the Charlson Comorbidity Index and Score for Risk Adjustment in Hospital Discharge Abstracts Using Data From 6 Countries. *American Journal of Epidemiology* [Internet] 2011 [cited 2023 June 28];173(6):676–82. Available from: <https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwq433>
24. Quan H, Sundararajan V, Halfon P, et al. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. *Medical care* [Internet] 2005 [cited 2022 Sept 4];43(11):1130–9. Available from: <https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16224307/>
25. Tapper EB, Henderson JB, Parikh ND, Ioannou GN, Lok AS. Incidence of and Risk Factors for Hepatic Encephalopathy in a Population-Based Cohort of Americans With Cirrhosis. *Hepatology Communications* 2019;3(11):1510–9.
26. Villanueva C, Tripathi D, Bosch J. Preventing the progression of cirrhosis to decompensation and death. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2025;22(4):265–80.
27. Moore O, Ma W-S, Read S, George J, Ahlenstiel G. The unwell patient with advanced chronic liver disease: when to use each score? *BMC Med* 2025;23(1):413.
28. Singh N, Wong YJ, Burra P, Selzner N, Montano-Loza AJ. Decompensated cirrhosis but low MELD-Should we wait or refer for liver transplantation? *Liver Transpl* 2025;
29. Mellinger JL, Moser S, Welsh DE, et al. Access to Subspecialty Care And Survival Among Patients With Liver Disease. *Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology | ACG* 2016;111(6):838.
30. Morando F, Maresio G, Piano S, et al. How to improve care in outpatients with cirrhosis and ascites: a new model of care coordination by consultant hepatologists. *J Hepatol* 2013;59(2):257–64.
31. Tapper EB, Hao S, Lin M, et al. The Quality and Outcomes of Care Provided to Patients with Cirrhosis by Advanced Practice Providers. *Hepatology* 2020;71(1):225–34.
32. Sempokuya T, Warner J, Azawi M, Nogimura A, Wong LL. Current status of disparity in liver disease. *World J Hepatol* 2022;14(11):1940–52.
33. Beste LA, Harp BK, Blais RK, Evans GA, Zickmund SL. Primary Care Providers Report Challenges to Cirrhosis Management and Specialty Care Coordination. *Dig Dis Sci* 2015;60(9):2628–35.
34. D'Amico G, Garcia-Tsao G, Pagliaro L. Natural history and prognostic indicators of survival in cirrhosis: A systematic review of 118 studies. *Journal of Hepatology* 2006;44(1):217–31.
35. Serper M, Kaplan DE, Lin M, et al. Inpatient Gastroenterology Consultation and Outcomes of Cirrhosis-Related Hospitalizations in Two Large National Cohorts. *Dig Dis Sci* 2022;67(6):2094–104.
36. Haghnejad V, Burke L, El Ouahabi S, Parker R, Rowe IA. Prediction models for liver decompensation in compensated advanced chronic liver disease: A systematic review. *Hepatology* :10.1097/HEP.0000000000001359.

37. Colecchia A, Colli A, Casazza G, et al. Spleen stiffness measurement can predict clinical complications in compensated HCV-related cirrhosis: A prospective study. *Journal of Hepatology* 2014;60(6):1158–64.
38. Wu S, Kong Y, Piao H, et al. On-treatment changes of liver stiffness at week 26 could predict 2-year clinical outcomes in HBV-related compensated cirrhosis. *Liver International* 2018;38(6):1045–54.
39. Xiao KY, Hubbard RA, Kaplan DE, Taddei TH, Goldberg DS, Mahmud N. Models for acute on chronic liver failure development and mortality in a veterans affairs cohort. *Hepatol Int* 2020;14(4):587–96.
40. Fujiwara N, Fobar AJ, Raman I, et al. A Blood-Based Prognostic Liver Secretome Signature Predicts Long-term Risk of Hepatic Decompensation in Cirrhosis. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2022;20(5):e1188–91.
41. Liu C, Cao Z, Yan H, et al. A Novel SAVE Score to Stratify Decompensation Risk in Compensated Advanced Chronic Liver Disease (CHESS2102): An International Multicenter Cohort Study. *Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology | ACG* 2022;117(10):1605.
42. Nicoară-Farcău O, Lozano JJ, Alonso C, et al. Metabolomics as a tool to predict the risk of decompensation or liver-related death in patients with compensated cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 2023;77(6):2052.
43. Kim BK, Bergstrom J, Loomba R, et al. Magnetic resonance elastography-based prediction model for hepatic decompensation in NAFLD: A multicenter cohort study. *Hepatology* 2023;78(6):1858.
44. Rinella ME, Lazarus JV, Ratziu V, et al. A multi-society Delphi consensus statement on new fatty liver disease nomenclature. *Journal of Hepatology* [Internet] 2023 [cited 2023 Oct 2]; Available from: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S016882782300418X>
45. Nakeeb NAE-RE, Riad GS, Naguib GG, Darwish NAE. Correlation between Severity of Liver Disease According to CHILD & MELD Scores and Degree of Cardiac Impairment. *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine* 2023;116(Supplement\_1):hcad069.470.
46. Yoo S-K, Kim J-H, Choe W-H, Kwon S-Y. Comparison of Mortality Prediction Between the Model for End-Stage Liver Disease-3.0 (MELD-3.0) and the Model for End-Stage Liver Disease-Lactate (MELD-La) in Korean Patients with Liver Cirrhosis. *Medicina* 2025;61(3):494.
47. Wiesner R, Edwards E, Freeman R, et al. Model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) and allocation of donor livers. *Gastroenterology* 2003;124(1):91–6.
48. David G, French B, Abt P, Feng S, Cameron AM. Increasing Disparity in Waitlist Mortality Rates with Increased MELD Scores for Candidates with versus without Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Liver Transpl* 2012;18(4):434–43.

49. Hart A, Schladt DP, Zeglin J, et al. Predicting outcomes on the liver transplant waiting list in the United States: Accounting for large regional variation in organ availability and priority allocation points. *Transplantation* 2016;100(10):2153–9.
50. Tapper EB, Korovaichuk S, Baki J, et al. Identifying patients with hepatic encephalopathy using administrative data in the ICD-10 era. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* [Internet] 2021 [cited 2023 Jan 30];19(3):604-606.e1. Available from: <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7319902/>

## STROBE Statement

	Item No.	Recommendation	Page No.	Relevant text from manuscript
<b>Title and abstract</b>	1	(a) Indicate the study's design with a commonly used term in the title or the abstract	Abstract	"A large, national, insurance, claims database was used to conduct a retrospective cohort study of patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis between 2012 and 2022."
		(b) Provide in the abstract an informative and balanced summary of what was done and what was found	3	"Multivariable logistic regression was used to predict 6- and 12-month decompensation risk." "The model had excellent calibration in derivation and validation sets, with predicted risks within 0.8% of true risk, on average"
<b>Introduction</b>				
Background/rationale	2	Explain the scientific background and rationale for the investigation being reported	5	"Decompensation is costly, increasing morbidity and mortality..." "there is a lack in understanding as to how cirrhosis etiologies and clinical factors influence risk"
Objectives	3	State specific objectives, including any prespecified hypotheses	5	"The primary aim of this study was to investigate the effects of demographic and clinical factors on decompensation. The secondary aim was to create a clinical decision-support tool to assess the risk of decompensation."
<b>Methods</b>				
Study design	4	Present key elements of study design early in the paper	6	"A retrospective, longitudinal cohort study"

Setting	5	Describe the setting, locations, and relevant dates, including periods of recruitment, exposure, follow-up, and data collection	6	"Claims data from a large national insurer in the United States between July 1st, 2011, and July 1st, 2024... patients identified between January 1st, 2012, and December 30th, 2022 were selected."
Participants	6	<p>(a) <i>Cohort study</i>—Give the eligibility criteria, and the sources and methods of selection of participants. Describe methods of follow-up</p> <p><i>Case-control study</i>—Give the eligibility criteria, and the sources and methods of case ascertainment and control selection. Give the rationale for the choice of cases and controls</p> <p><i>Cross-sectional study</i>—Give the eligibility criteria, and the sources and methods of selection of participants</p>	6	"Patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis enrolled under any insurance plan type and at least 6 months of follow up were included..."
		<p>(b) <i>Cohort study</i>—For matched studies, give matching criteria and number of exposed and unexposed</p> <p><i>Case-control study</i>—For matched studies, give matching criteria and the number of controls per case</p>	N/A	
Variables	7	Clearly define all outcomes, exposures, predictors, potential confounders, and effect modifiers. Give diagnostic criteria, if applicable	8	"Covariates used included baseline demographics as categorical variables and laboratory values as continuous... decompensation was considered to be a claim listing a validated ICD-9, ICD-10, or CPT code indicating ascites, hepatic encephalopathy (HE), variceal bleeding (VB), hepatorenal syndrome (HRS), spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP), or hepatopulmonary syndrome (HPS)."
Data sources/ measurement	8*	For each variable of interest, give sources of data and details of methods of assessment (measurement). Describe comparability of assessment methods if there is more than one group	6	"Medical claims... included ICD-9 and ICD-10 codes, CPT codes... when available, linked laboratory results... Pharmacy claims contain data on



				outpatient prescriptions including drug names, dosages..."
Bias	9	Describe any efforts to address potential sources of bias	8	"The model was internally temporally cross validated... A sensitivity analysis was conducted by performing the validation procedure with interaction terms..."
Study size	10	Explain how the study size was arrived at	6	"Patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis enrolled under any insurance plan type and at least 6 months of follow up were included in the analysis"

Continued on next page

Quantitative variables	11	Explain how quantitative variables were handled in the analyses. If applicable, describe which groupings were chosen and why	8	"Covariates used included baseline demographics as categorical variables and laboratory values as continuous"
Statistical methods	12	(a) Describe all statistical methods, including those used to control for confounding	8	"Multivariable logistic regression was used... adjusting for demographics, comorbidities, labs, and cirrhosis etiology."
		(b) Describe any methods used to examine subgroups and interactions	6	"A sensitivity analysis was conducted... with interaction terms as detailed in the Supplemental Material."
		(c) Explain how missing data were addressed	8	"Those with missing laboratory values were excluded from the model. A sensitivity analysis was conducted comparing model performance with and without laboratory values (Supplementary Figures 4a and 4b)."
		(d) <i>Cohort study</i> —If applicable, explain how loss to follow-up was addressed  <i>Case-control study</i> —If applicable, explain how matching of cases and controls was addressed  <i>Cross-sectional study</i> —If applicable, describe analytical methods taking account of sampling strategy	6	"End of observation was defined as the time of decompensation, transplant, disenrollment... or end of follow-up."
		(e) Describe any sensitivity analyses	9	"A sensitivity analysis was conducted... performance was found to be similar... final model was parsimonious."
<b>Results</b>				
Participants	13*	(a) Report numbers of individuals at each stage of study—eg numbers potentially eligible, examined for eligibility, confirmed eligible, included in the study, completing follow-up, and analysed	10	"188,526 patients with 6 months of follow-up, 167,684 had 12 months..."

		(b) Give reasons for non-participation at each stage	6	<p>“Patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis enrolled under any insurance plan type and at least 6 months of follow up were included in the analysis (Figure 1).”</p> <p>“The end of observation was defined as the time of decompensation, transplant, disenrollment from the database, or the end of the 6- or 12-month follow-up periods.”</p>
		(c) Consider use of a flow diagram	6	Figure 1
Descriptive data	14*	(a) Give characteristics of study participants (eg demographic, clinical, social) and information on exposures and potential confounders	9	“Mean age... Charlson index... etiologies... labs and comorbidities”
		(b) Indicate number of participants with missing data for each variable of interest	Supplemental Table 2b	-
		(c) <i>Cohort study</i> —Summarise follow-up time (eg, average and total amount)	9	“Mean follow-up time was 4.2 (2.6) years.”
Outcome data	15*	<i>Cohort study</i> —Report numbers of outcome events or summary measures over time	10	“9,841 (5.2%) decompensated by 6 months; 18,907 (11.3%) by 12 months.”
		<i>Case-control study</i> —Report numbers in each exposure category, or summary measures of exposure		
		<i>Cross-sectional study</i> —Report numbers of outcome events or summary measures		
Main results	16	(a) Give unadjusted estimates and, if applicable, confounder-adjusted estimates and their precision (eg, 95% confidence interval). Make clear which confounders were adjusted for and why they were included	10	“Model demonstrated... OR 1.9 for ALD... OR 0.5 for biliary... adjusted for covariates.”

(b) Report category boundaries when continuous variables were categorized	11	"Tables 3a–3c show tertiles of MELD score... patients at <5th, >95th percentiles of decompensation risk."
(c) If relevant, consider translating estimates of relative risk into absolute risk for a meaningful time period	12	"Patients with MELD of 21 and ALD had 12-month risk of 50.0%... contrasted to 22.0% for biliary."

Continued on next page

Other analyses	17	Report other analyses done—eg analyses of subgroups and interactions, and sensitivity analyses	9	"Marginal effects plots... interaction terms... parsimonious model tested."
<b>Discussion</b>				
Key results	18	Summarise key results with reference to study objectives	12	"5.2% of patients decompensate by 6 months and 11.3% decompensate by 12 months after the identification of cirrhosis." "models based on these factors resulted in accurate risk estimates"
Limitations	19	Discuss limitations of the study, taking into account sources of potential bias or imprecision. Discuss both direction and magnitude of any potential bias	13	"This study should be interpreted in the context of its limitations..."
Interpretation	20	Give a cautious overall interpretation of results considering objectives, limitations, multiplicity of analyses, results from similar studies, and other relevant evidence	15	"We constructed a temporally validated model for 6- and 12-month decompensation risk prediction for patients with baseline compensated cirrhosis. Patients most likely to decompensate were those with MASLD, MetALD, ALD, <del>CKD on HD</del> Severe renal disease or HCC, and laboratory findings suggestive of greater hepatic dysfunction. Those with biliary cirrhosis and HCV were at lower risk."
Generalisability	21	Discuss the generalisability (external validity) of the study results	15	"The associated risk calculator may be used by clinicians to aid in shared decision-making."
<b>Other information</b>				
Funding	22	Give the source of funding and the role of the funders for the present study and, if applicable, for the original study on which the present article is based	2	"The R01DK131164 supported..."

\*Give information separately for cases and controls in case-control studies and, if applicable, for exposed and unexposed groups in cohort and cross-sectional studies.

**Note:** An Explanation and Elaboration article discusses each checklist item and gives methodological background and published examples of transparent reporting. The STROBE checklist is best used in conjunction with this article (freely available on the Web sites of PLoS Medicine at <http://www.plosmedicine.org/>, Annals of Internal Medicine at <http://www.annals.org/>, and Epidemiology at <http://www.epidem.com/>). Information on the STROBE Initiative is available at [www.strobe-statement.org](http://www.strobe-statement.org).

## TRIPOD Checklist

Section/Topic	Item		Checklist Item	Page
Title and abstract				
Title	1	D;V	Identify the study as developing and/or validating a multivariable prediction model, the target population, and the outcome to be predicted.	1
Abstract	2	D;V	Provide a summary of objectives, study design, setting, participants, sample size, predictors, outcome, statistical analysis, results, and conclusions.	3
Introduction				
Background and objectives	3a	D;V	Explain the medical context (including whether diagnostic or prognostic) and rationale for developing or validating the multivariable prediction model, including references to existing models.	5
	3b	D;V	Specify the objectives, including whether the study describes the development or validation of the model or both.	5
Methods				
Source of data	4a	D;V	Describe the study design or source of data (e.g., randomized trial, cohort, or registry data), separately for the development and validation data sets, if applicable.	6
	4b	D;V	Specify the key study dates, including start of accrual; end of accrual; and, if applicable, end of follow-up.	6
Participants	5a	D;V	Specify key elements of the study setting (e.g., primary care, secondary care, general population) including number and location of centres.	6,7
	5b	D;V	Describe eligibility criteria for participants.	6
	5c	D;V	Give details of treatments received, if relevant.	NA
Outcome	6a	D;V	Clearly define the outcome that is predicted by the prediction model, including how and when assessed.	8
	6b	D;V	Report any actions to blind assessment of the outcome to be predicted.	7
Predictors	7a	D;V	Clearly define all predictors used in developing or validating the multivariable prediction model, including how and when they were measured.	8
	7b	D;V	Report any actions to blind assessment of predictors for the outcome and other predictors.	8
Sample size	8	D;V	Explain how the study size was arrived at.	6
Missing data	9	D;V	Describe how missing data were handled (e.g., complete-case analysis, single imputation, multiple imputation) with details of any imputation method.	8
Statistical analysis methods	10a	D	Describe how predictors were handled in the analyses.	9
	10b	D	Specify type of model, all model-building procedures (including any predictor selection), and method for internal validation.	9
	10c	V	For validation, describe how the predictions were calculated.	8,9
	10d	D;V	Specify all measures used to assess model performance and, if relevant, to compare multiple models.	9
	10e	V	Describe any model updating (e.g., recalibration) arising from the validation, if done.	9
Risk groups	11	D;V	Provide details on how risk groups were created, if done.	9
Development vs. validation	12	V	For validation, identify any differences from the development data in setting, eligibility criteria, outcome, and predictors.	8
Results				
Participants	13a	D;V	Describe the flow of participants through the study, including the number of participants with and without the outcome and, if applicable, a summary of the follow-up time. A diagram may be helpful.	9
	13b	D;V	Describe the characteristics of the participants (basic demographics, clinical features, available predictors), including the number of participants with missing data for predictors and outcome.	9
	13c	V	For validation, show a comparison with the development data of the distribution of important variables (demographics, predictors and outcome).	10
Model development	14a	D	Specify the number of participants and outcome events in each analysis.	10
	14b	D	If done, report the unadjusted association between each candidate predictor and outcome.	10,11
Model specification	15a	D	Present the full prediction model to allow predictions for individuals (i.e., all regression coefficients, and model intercept or baseline survival at a given time point).	NA
	15b	D	Explain how to use the prediction model.	9
Model performance	16	D;V	Report performance measures (with CIs) for the prediction model.	10
Model-updating	17	V	If done, report the results from any model updating (i.e., model specification, model performance).	10
Discussion				
Limitations	18	D;V	Discuss any limitations of the study (such as nonrepresentative sample, few events per predictor, missing data).	13

Interpretation	19a	V	For validation, discuss the results with reference to performance in the development data, and any other validation data.	10
	19b	D;V	Give an overall interpretation of the results, considering objectives, limitations, results from similar studies, and other relevant evidence.	15
Implications	20	D;V	Discuss the potential clinical use of the model and implications for future research.	15
<b>Other information</b>				
Supplementary information	21	D;V	Provide information about the availability of supplementary resources, such as study protocol, Web calculator, and data sets.	10
Funding	22	D;V	Give the source of funding and the role of the funders for the present study.	2

\*Items relevant only to the development of a prediction model are denoted by D, items relating solely to a validation of a prediction model are denoted by V, and items relating to both are denoted D;V. We recommend using the TRIPOD Checklist in conjunction with the TRIPOD Explanation and Elaboration document.



## Supplemental Table Legends

### Supplemental Table 1: Summary of PROBAST Risk of Bias Assessment tool.

Supplemental Tables 2a and 2b: Baseline demographics showing all etiology definitions for patients included in the 12-month decompensation risk model. Abbreviations: AIDS: acquired immunodeficiency syndrome; ALD: alcohol associated liver disease; Alcohol+: alcohol associated liver disease plus another cirrhosis etiology; Alcohol+HCV: alcohol associated liver disease and hepatitis C virus associated liver disease; CHF: congestive heart failure; CKD: chronic kidney disease; COM: commercial insurance; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; DM: diabetes mellitus; HBV: hepatitis B associated cirrhosis; HCV: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis; HCV+: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis plus another cirrhosis etiology; HD: hemodialysis; HE: hepatic encephalopathy; HPS: hepatopulmonary syndrome; HRS: hepatorenal syndrome; MA: Medicare Advantage; MASLD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease; MetALD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease with increased alcohol intake; MI: myocardial infarction; Other: one other cirrhosis etiology not otherwise specified; Other 2+: two or more other cirrhosis etiologies not otherwise specified; PAD: peripheral arterial disease; PUD: peptic ulcer disease; SBP: spontaneous bacterial peritonitis; SD: standard deviation; VB: variceal bleeding

Supplemental Tables 3a and 3b: Baseline demographics showing all etiology definitions for patients excluded due to having 6-12 months of follow up. Abbreviations: AIDS: acquired immunodeficiency syndrome; ALD: alcohol associated liver disease; Alcohol+: alcohol associated liver disease plus another cirrhosis etiology; Alcohol+HCV: alcohol associated liver disease and hepatitis C virus associated liver disease; CHF: congestive heart failure; CKD: chronic kidney disease; COM: commercial insurance; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; DM: diabetes mellitus; HBV: hepatitis B associated cirrhosis; HCV: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis; HCV+: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis plus another cirrhosis etiology; HD: hemodialysis; HE: hepatic encephalopathy; HPS: hepatopulmonary syndrome; HRS: hepatorenal syndrome; MA: Medicare Advantage; MASLD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease; MetALD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease with increased alcohol intake; MI: myocardial infarction; Other: one other cirrhosis etiology not otherwise specified; Other 2+: two or more other cirrhosis etiologies not otherwise specified; PAD: peripheral arterial disease; PUD: peptic ulcer disease; SBP: spontaneous bacterial peritonitis; SD: standard deviation; VB: variceal bleeding

Supplemental Tables 4a and 4b: Baseline demographics showing all etiology definitions for patients excluded for having less than 6 months of follow up. Abbreviations: AIDS: acquired immunodeficiency syndrome; ALD: alcohol associated liver disease; Alcohol+: alcohol associated liver disease plus another cirrhosis etiology; Alcohol+HCV: alcohol associated liver disease and hepatitis C virus associated liver disease; CHF: congestive heart failure; CKD: chronic kidney disease; COM: commercial insurance; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; DM: diabetes mellitus; HBV: hepatitis B associated cirrhosis; HCV: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis; HCV+: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis plus another cirrhosis etiology; HD: hemodialysis; HE: hepatic encephalopathy; HPS: hepatopulmonary syndrome; HRS: hepatorenal syndrome; MA: Medicare Advantage; MASLD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease; MetALD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease with increased alcohol intake; MI: myocardial infarction; Other: one other cirrhosis etiology not otherwise specified; Other 2+: two or more other cirrhosis etiologies not otherwise specified; PAD: peripheral arterial disease; PUD: peptic ulcer disease; SBP: spontaneous bacterial peritonitis; SD: standard deviation; VB: variceal bleeding

Supplemental Tables 5a and 5b: Model calibration tables for the 6- and 12-month risk prediction models. Abbreviations: MELD: model for end-stage liver disease 3.0; ALD: alcohol associated liver disease; Alcohol+: alcohol associated liver disease plus another cirrhosis etiology; Alcohol+HCV: alcohol associated liver disease and hepatitis C virus associated liver disease; HBV: hepatitis B associated cirrhosis; HCV: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis; HCV+: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis plus another cirrhosis etiology; MASLD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease; MetALD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease with increased alcohol intake; MI: myocardial infarction; Other: one other cirrhosis etiology not otherwise specified; Other 2+: two or more other cirrhosis etiologies not otherwise specified

#### Supplemental Tables

Table 1: PROBAST Risk of Bias Assessment

Domain	Item	Question	Response
Participants	1.1	Were appropriate data sources used?	Yes
	1.2	Were inclusion/exclusion criteria appropriate?	Yes
	Domain-level Risk of Bias Judgment		Low risk of bias
Predictors	2.1	Were predictors defined and assessed in a similar way for all participants?	Yes
	2.2	Were predictor assessments made without knowledge of outcome?	No
	2.3	Are all predictors available at the time the model is intended to be used?	Yes
	Domain-level Risk of Bias Judgment		Low risk of bias

Outcome	3.1	Was the outcome determined appropriately?	Yes
	3.2	Was a pre-specified or standard outcome definition used?	Yes
	3.3	Were predictors excluded from the outcome definition?	Yes
	3.4	Was the outcome defined and determined in a similar way for all participants?	Yes
	3.5	Was the outcome assessed without knowledge of predictors?	No
	3.6	Was the time interval between predictor assessment and outcome appropriate?	Yes
	Domain-level Risk of Bias Judgment		Low risk of bias
Analysis	4.1	Were there a reasonable number of participants with the outcome?	Yes
	4.2	Were continuous and categorical predictors handled appropriately?	Yes
	4.3	Were all enrolled participants included in the analysis?	Yes
	4.4	Were missing data handled appropriately?	No

	4.5	Was selection of predictors based on univariable analysis avoided?	Yes
	4.6	Were complexities in the data (e.g., censoring, competing risks, sampling of control participants) accounted for	Yes
	4.7	Were relevant model performance measures evaluated appropriately?	Yes
	4.8	Were model overfitting and optimism in model performance accounted for?	Yes
	4.9	Do predictors and their assigned weights in the final model correspond to the results from the reported multivariable analysis?	Yes
	Domain-level Risk of Bias Judgment		Low risk of bias
Overall Assessment	Overall Judgement about Risk of Bias		Low risk of bias

## Supplemental Tables 2a and 2b: Baseline Demographics

### Supplemental Table 2a

	Total	MASLD	METALD	ALD	HBV	HCV	Biliary	Other	Alcohol +	HCV +	Alcohol + HCV	Other 2+
Total N (% of row)	167684 (100%)	79031 (47.13%)	20508 (12.23%)	3573 (2.13%)	3294 (1.96%)	23706 (14.14%)	13935 (8.31%)	14270 (8.51%)	1112 (0.66%)	2258 (1.35%)	4360 (2.6%)	1637 (0.98%)
Age, mean (SD)	63.22 (12.46)	65.48 (12.12)	63.16 (11.31)	56.08 (13.2)	59.62 (13.3)	62.45 (9.92)	61.69 (14.01)	57.72 (16.02)	60.75 (12.33)	61.29 (11.41)	61.31 (8.61)	58.99 (14.96)
18-64, N (% of column)	78946 (47.06%)	31176 (39.45%)	9815 (47.80%)	2404 (67.28%)	1933 (55.65%)	13157 (55.55%)	6848 (49.14%)	8257 (57.80%)	942 (57.73%)	1310 (58.02%)	2588 (59.36%)	916 (55.96%)
65-69, N (% of column)	37814 (22.55%)	17264 (21.94%)	4834 (23.57%)	696 (19.48%)	671 (20.37%)	6453 (27.22%)	2806 (20.14%)	2955 (20.71%)	203 (18.26%)	444 (19.66%)	1194 (27.39%)	294 (17.96%)
70-74, N (% of column)	23554 (14.05%)	12993 (16.44%)	2943 (14.35%)	285 (7.98%)	413 (12.54%)	2450 (10.33%)	1915 (13.74%)	1501 (10.52%)	145 (13.04%)	274 (12.13%)	423 (9.7%)	212 (12.95%)
75-79, N (% of column)	14725 (8.78%)	8976 (11.36%)	1720 (8.39%)	120 (3.36%)	223 (6.77%)	1045 (4.41%)	1315 (9.44%)	877 (6.15%)	75 (6.74%)	131 (5.8%)	107 (2.45%)	136 (8.31%)
80+, N (% of column)	12645 (7.54%)	8622 (10.91%)	1196 (5.83%)	68 (1.9%)	154 (4.68%)	601 (2.54%)	1051 (7.54%)	680 (4.77%)	47 (4.23%)	99 (4.38%)	48 (1.1%)	79 (4.83%)
Male	85150 (50.78%)	38615 (48.33%)	14546 (70.93%)	2261 (63.28%)	2169 (66.45%)	14870 (62.73%)	2437 (17.49%)	6604 (46.28%)	678 (61.06%)	1330 (58.9%)	3294 (75.55%)	325 (19.85%)
Years of follow up after index mean	4.15 (2.63)	3.99 (2.51)	3.95 (2.46)	3.9 (2.56)	4.56 (2.85)	4.64 (2.82)	4.53 (2.8)	4.25 (2.75)	4.98 (2.83)	4.66 (2.88)	4.03 (2.51)	4.32 (2.66)
Insurance Plan Type												
COM, N (% of column)	57975 (34.57%)	23298 (29.48%)	6583 (32.1%)	1804 (50.49%)	1614 (45.9%)	8079 (34.08%)	6251 (44.86%)	6805 (47.69%)	516 (46.4%)	1008 (44.64%)	1163 (26.67%)	854 (52.17%)
MA, N (% of column)	98071 (58.49%)	49597 (62.76%)	12549 (61.19%)	1664 (46.57%)	1512 (45.9%)	14057 (59.3%)	6701 (48.09%)	6741 (47.24%)	505 (45.41%)	1078 (47.74%)	2888 (68.53%)	679 (41.48%)
Both, N (% of column)	11638 (6.94%)	6136 (7.76%)	1376 (6.71%)	105 (2.94%)	168 (5.1%)	1570 (6.82%)	963 (7.05%)	724 (5.07%)	91 (8.16%)	172 (7.62%)	209 (4.79%)	104 (6.35%)
Comorbidities												
Charlson, mean (SD)	5.77 (3.12)	6.66 (3.18)	5.77 (3.01)	3.45 (2.11)	4.83 (3.02)	5.13 (2.66)	4.52 (2.67)	4.27 (2.66)	5.51 (3.22)	5.43 (3.01)	5.33 (2.79)	4.41 (2.79)
Prior MI, N (% of column)	10226 (6.1%)	6200 (7.85%)	1550 (7.58%)	35 (0.98%)	108 (3.28%)	1083 (4.57%)	435 (3.12%)	251 (1.76%)	73 (6.56%)	121 (5.36%)	317 (7.27%)	53 (3.24%)
CHF, N (% of column)	25419 (15.18%)	15728 (19.9%)	3776 (18.41%)	160 (4.48%)	267 (8.11%)	2462 (10.39%)	1036 (7.43%)	824 (5.77%)	178 (16.01%)	295 (13.06%)	571 (13.1%)	122 (7.45%)
PAD, N (% of column)	38505 (22.96%)	22800 (28.85%)	5609 (27.35%)	202 (5.65%)	503 (15.27%)	4229 (17.84%)	1837 (13.18%)	1239 (8.68%)	290 (26.08%)	497 (22.01%)	1051 (24.11%)	248 (15.15%)
CVA, N (% of column)	19212 (11.46%)	11240 (14.22%)	2908 (14.17%)	94 (2.63%)	244 (7.41%)	1930 (8.14%)	1135 (8.14%)	540 (3.78%)	159 (14.3%)	278 (12.31%)	537 (12.32%)	149 (9.1%)
Dementia, N (% of column)	5285 (3.15%)	3043 (3.85%)	1088 (5.31%)	68 (1.9%)	54 (1.64%)	352 (1.48%)	243 (1.74%)	151 (1.06%)	41 (3.69%)	46 (2.04%)	168 (3.85%)	31 (1.89%)
COPD, N (% of column)	47944 (28.59%)	25915 (32.66%)	6836 (33.33%)	517 (14.47%)	572 (17.36%)	6015 (25.37%)	2811 (20.17%)	2223 (15.58%)	375 (33.72%)	704 (31.18%)	1689 (38.89%)	368 (22.49%)
Rheumatic Disease, N (% of column)	10227 (6.1%)	5342 (6.76%)	798 (3.89%)	62 (1.74%)	139 (4.22%)	1013 (4.27%)	1486 (10.66%)	666 (4.67%)	96 (8.61%)	188 (8.33%)	178 (4.08%)	257 (15.7%)
PUD, N (% of column)	4377 (2.61%)	2345 (2.97%)	672 (3.28%)	51 (1.43%)	81 (2.46%)	456 (1.92%)	273 (1.96%)	213 (1.49%)	47 (4.23%)	83 (3.68%)	115 (2.64%)	41 (2.5%)
Uncomplicated DA, N (% of column)	65485 (39.05%)	43141 (54.59%)	7146 (34.84%)	0 (0%)	988 (29.99%)	7142 (30.13%)	3046 (21.86%)	1343 (9.41%)	337 (30.31%)	781 (34.59%)	1222 (28.03%)	339 (20.71%)
Complicated DA, N (% of column)	31430 (18.74%)	21645 (27.39%)	3434 (16.74%)	0 (0%)	409 (12.42%)	3033 (12.79%)	1176 (8.44%)	544 (3.81%)	144 (12.95%)	303 (13.42%)	629 (14.43%)	113 (6.9%)
Hemiparesis, N (% of column)	2158 (1.29%)	1158 (1.47%)	302 (1.37%)	17 (0.48%)	33 (1%)	258 (1.09%)	124 (0.89%)	69 (0.48%)	13 (1.17%)	27 (1.2%)	87 (2%)	10 (0.61%)
Malignancy, N (% of column)	21104 (12.59%)	11543 (14.61%)	2242 (10.93%)	185 (5.18%)	514 (15.6%)	2748 (11.58%)	1255 (9.01%)	1373 (9.62%)	168 (15.11%)	394 (17.45%)	533 (12.22%)	149 (9.1%)
Metastasis, N (% of column)	3152 (1.88%)	1979 (2.5%)	304 (1.48%)	32 (0.9%)	50 (1.52%)	304 (1.28%)	127 (0.91%)	222 (1.58%)	23 (2.07%)	34 (1.51%)	63 (1.44%)	14 (0.86%)
ARDS, N (% of column)	95 (0.06%)	28 (0.03%)	7 (0.03%)	2 (0.06%)	4 (0.12%)	32 (0.13%)	3 (0.02%)	4 (0.03%)	3 (0.27%)	5 (0.22%)	6 (0.14%)	3 (0.18%)
CKD, N (% of column)	23451 (13.99%)	14757 (18.67%)	2956 (14.41%)	70 (1.96%)	379 (11.51%)	2417 (10.2%)	1154 (8.28%)	639 (4.48%)	151 (13.58%)	259 (11.47%)	516 (11.83%)	153 (9.35%)
CKD on HD, N (% of column)	4392 (2.62%)	2576 (3.26%)	550 (2.68%)	15 (0.42%)	90 (2.73%)	566 (2.39%)	178 (1.28%)	147 (1.03%)	38 (3.42%)	87 (3.85%)	125 (2.87%)	20 (1.22%)

### Supplemental Table 2b

	Total	MASLD	METALD	ALD	HBV	HCV	Biliary	Other	Alcohol +	HCV +	Alcohol + HCV	Other 2+
Total N (% of row)	167684 (100%)	79031 (47.13%)	20508 (12.23%)	3573 (2.13%)	3294 (1.96%)	23706 (14.14%)	13935 (8.31%)	14270 (8.51%)	1112 (0.66%)	2258 (1.35%)	4360 (2.6%)	1637 (0.98%)
Platelet, observations (% of column)	54157 (32.3%)	25354 (32.08%)	6273 (30.59%)	834 (23.34%)	1262 (38.31%)	8377 (35.34%)	4525 (32.47%)	3946 (27.65%)	422 (37.95%)	948 (41.98%)	1518 (34.82%)	698 (42.64%)
Platelet, median (IQR)	190000 (119000)	188000 (119000)	190000 (120000)	171000 (122750)	181000 (97750)	168000 (101000)	252000 (101000)	181000 (118000)	218000 (116750)	190000 (103250)	171000 (105000)	241500 (98000)
Sodium, observations (% of column)	61184 (36.49%)	29516 (37.35%)	7135 (34.79%)	914 (25.58%)	1393 (42.29%)	9026 (38.07%)	5055 (36.28%)	4255 (29.82%)	463 (41.64%)	1025 (45.39%)	1658 (38.03%)	744 (45.45%)
Sodium, median (IQR)	140 (4)	140 (4)	139 (4)	140 (3)	140 (3)	140 (3)	140 (3)	140 (3)	139 (4)	140 (3)	139 (4)	140 (4)
Creatinine, observations (% of column)	62949 (37.54%)	30355 (38.41%)	7342 (35.8%)	941 (26.34%)	1436 (43.59%)	9296 (39.21%)	5201 (37.32%)	4384 (30.72%)	478 (42.99%)	1054 (46.68%)	1702 (39.04%)	760 (46.43%)
Creatinine, median (IQR)	0.87 (0.32)	0.88 (0.35)	0.88 (0.33)	0.81 (0.27)	0.91 (0.32)	0.88 (0.29)	0.8 (0.26)	0.82 (0.28)	0.86 (0.28)	0.9 (0.3)	0.88 (0.3)	0.8 (0.27)
Albumin, observations (% of column)	62696 (37.39%)	29782 (37.68%)	7102 (34.63%)	937 (26.22%)	1442 (43.78%)	9196 (38.79%)	5655 (40.58%)	4523 (31.7%)	487 (43.79%)	1070 (47.39%)	1676 (38.44%)	826 (50.46%)
Albumin, median (IQR)	4.2 (0.5)	4.2 (0.5)	4.2 (0.6)	4.2 (0.7)	4.3 (0.5)	4.2 (0.5)	4.2 (0.4)	4.2 (0.7)	4.2 (0.6)	4.2 (0.6)	4.1 (0.6)	4.2 (0.4)
INR, observations (% of column)	22151 (13.21%)	9659 (12.22%)	2165 (10.56%)	395 (11.06%)	522 (15.85%)	4151 (17.51%)	1621 (11.63%)	1969 (13.8%)	205 (18.44%)	462 (20.46%)	697 (15.99%)	305 (18.63%)
INR, median (IQR)	1.1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.2)	1.1 (0.2)	1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.1)	1 (0)	1.1 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.2)	1 (0.1)
Bilirubin, observations (% of column)	61038 (36.4%)	28745 (36.37%)	6868 (33.49%)	906 (25.36%)	1421 (43.14%)	9197 (38.8%)	5445 (39.07%)	4425 (31.01%)	481 (43.26%)	1059 (46.9%)	1684 (38.62%)	807 (49.3%)
Bilirubin, median (IQR)	0.6 (0.5)	0.6 (0.5)	0.6 (0.6)	0.7 (0.8)	0.6 (0.4)	0.6 (0.5)	0.5 (0.3)	0.6 (0.6)	0.6 (0.6)	0.6 (0.4)	0.6 (0.5)	0.5 (0.3)
MELD, observations (% of column)	14278 (8.51%)	6030 (7.63%)	1386 (6.76%)	271 (7.58%)	388 (11.78%)	2778 (11.72%)	1013 (7.27%)	1312 (9.19%)	134 (12.05%)	316 (13.99%)	457 (10.48%)	193 (11.79%)
MELD, median (IQR)	11 (4)	11 (5)	11 (5)	11 (5)	10 (2)	10 (3)	10 (3)	11 (4)	10 (3)	10 (3)	11 (4)	10 (4)
AST, observations (% of column)	62085 (37.02%)	29402 (37.2%)	7011 (34.19%)	924 (25.86%)	1454 (44.14%)	9129 (38.51%)	5622 (40.34%)	4491 (31.47%)	490 (44.06%)	1065 (47.17%)	1670 (38.3%)	827 (50.52%)
AST, median (IQR)	30 (26)	29 (23)	31 (31)	31 (31)	27 (17)	31 (36)	27 (20)	31 (28)	32 (32)	30 (29)	38 (50)	30 (24)
ALT, observations (% of column)	62868 (37.49%)	29648 (37.51%)	7049 (34.37%)	928 (25.97%)	1469 (44.6%)	9453 (39.88%)	5651 (40.55%)	4530 (31.74%)	492 (44.24%)	1087 (48.14%)	1732 (39.72%)	829 (50.64%)
ALT, median (IQR)	27 (28)	26 (25)	26 (26)	25 (23)	27 (22)	30 (43)	26 (26)	27 (30)	30 (36.25)	29 (35)	34 (49)	30 (31)
AST/ALT ratio, observations (% of column)	61740 (36.82%)	29228 (36.98%)	6964 (33.96%)	920 (25.97%)	1447 (43.93%)	9085 (38.32%)	5598 (40.17%)	4466 (31.3%)	485 (43.62%)	1060 (46.94%)	1665 (38.19%)	822 (50.21%)
AST/ALT ratio, median (IQR)	1.12 (0.58)	1.12 (0.58)	1.23 (0.7)	1.33 (0.75)	1.04 (0.48)	1.1 (0.54)	1.05 (0.51)	1.14 (0.63)	1.12 (0.64)	1.06 (0.55)	1.15 (0.62)	1.04 (0.56)
FIB-4, observations (% of column)	50835 (30.32%)	23590 (29.85%)	5850 (28.53%)	781 (21.86%)	1225 (37.19%)	7942 (33.5%)	4314 (30.96%)	3685 (25.82%)	403 (36.24%)	908 (40.21%)	1453 (33.33%)	684 (41.78%)
FIB-4, median (IQR)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)

## Supplemental Tables 3a and 3b: Baseline Demographics of Patients with 6-12 Months of Follow-up

Supplemental Table 3a

	Total	MASLD	METALD	ALD	HBV	HCV	Biliary	Other	Alcohol +	HCV +	Alcohol + HCV	Other 2+
Total N (% of row)	20842 (100%)	9408 (45.14%)	2899 (13.91%)	651 (3.12%)	352 (1.69%)	2908 (13.95%)	1499 (7.19%)	1946 (9.34%)	110 (0.53%)	257 (1.23%)	612 (2.94%)	200 (0.96%)
Age, mean (SD)	62.22 (13.34)	65.31 (13.15)	61.4 (11.99)	55.28 (13.08)	56.98 (14.11)	61.52 (9.38)	60.43 (15.02)	56.21 (16.25)	58.3 (12.25)	60.21 (11.51)	59.6 (9.44)	55.24 (14.95)
18-64, N (% of column)	11287 (54.16%)	4116 (43.75%)	1672 (57.68%)	482 (74.04%)	232 (65.91%)	1836 (63.14%)	873 (58.24%)	1279 (65.72%)	80 (72.73%)	157 (61.09%)	421 (68.79%)	139 (69.5%)
65-69, N (% of column)	3804 (18.25%)	1721 (18.29%)	519 (17.9%)	94 (14.44%)	62 (17.61%)	632 (21.73%)	226 (15.08%)	324 (16.65%)	9 (8.18%)	55 (21.4%)	133 (21.73%)	29 (14.5%)
70-74, N (% of column)	2315 (11.1%)	1298 (13.8%)	330 (11.38%)	38 (5.84%)	18 (5.11%)	247 (8.49%)	136 (8.97%)	157 (8.07%)	11 (10%)	28 (11.2%)	42 (6.88%)	12 (6%)
75-79, N (% of column)	1541 (7.39%)	827 (8.85%)	200 (6.9%)	20 (3.07%)	22 (6.25%)	111 (3.82%)	124 (8.27%)	97 (4.98%)	8 (7.27%)	9 (3.5%)	9 (1.47%)	14 (7%)
80+, N (% of column)	1895 (9.09%)	1346 (14.31%)	178 (6.14%)	17 (2.61%)	18 (5.11%)	82 (2.82%)	140 (9.34%)	89 (4.57%)	2 (1.82%)	10 (3.89%)	7 (1.14%)	6 (3%)
Male	11480 (55.08%)	4718 (50.15%)	2111 (72.82%)	421 (64.67%)	248 (70.45%)	1900 (65.34%)	301 (20.08%)	1012 (52%)	72 (65.45%)	162 (63.04%)	487 (79.58%)	48 (24%)
Years of follow up after index mean	0.74 (0.14)	0.74 (0.14)	0.74 (0.14)	0.75 (0.15)	0.74 (0.14)	0.74 (0.14)	0.75 (0.14)	0.75 (0.15)	0.74 (0.13)	0.74 (0.14)	0.73 (0.15)	0.75 (0.14)
Insurance Plan Type												
COI, N (% of column)	10856 (52.09%)	4194 (44.58%)	1445 (49.84%)	421 (64.67%)	244 (69.32%)	1675 (57.6%)	935 (62.37%)	1270 (65.26%)	66 (60%)	144 (56.03%)	303 (49.51%)	159 (79.5%)
MA, N (% of column)	9536 (45.75%)	4929 (52.39%)	1384 (47.74%)	227 (34.87%)	103 (29.26%)	1196 (41.13%)	543 (36.22%)	863 (34.07%)	40 (36.36%)	107 (41.63%)	303 (49.51%)	41 (20.5%)
Both, N (% of column)	450 (2.16%)	285 (3.03%)	70 (2.41%)	3 (0.46%)	5 (1.42%)	37 (1.27%)	21 (1.4%)	13 (0.67%)	4 (3.64%)	6 (2.33%)	6 (0.98%)	0 (0%)
Comorbidities												
Charlson, mean (SD)	5.67 (3.51)	6.78 (3.66)	5.44 (3.24)	3.37 (2.23)	4.65 (3.4)	4.96 (2.95)	4.38 (3.06)	4.02 (2.82)	5.09 (3.3)	5.32 (3.63)	5.21 (3.14)	3.94 (2.86)
Prior MI, N (% of column)	1420 (6.81%)	881 (9.36%)	215 (7.42%)	5 (0.77%)	21 (5.97%)	124 (4.26%)	60 (4%)	35 (1.8%)	7 (6.36%)	15 (5.94%)	53 (8.66%)	4 (2%)
CHF, N (% of column)	3735 (17.92%)	2241 (24.88%)	558 (19.25%)	28 (4.3%)	32 (9.09%)	348 (11.97%)	138 (9.21%)	123 (6.32%)	22 (20%)	31 (12.06%)	103 (16.83%)	11 (5.5%)
PAD, N (% of column)	4906 (23.54%)	2963 (31.49%)	758 (26.15%)	32 (4.92%)	54 (15.34%)	481 (16.54%)	201 (13.41%)	161 (8.27%)	26 (23.64%)	57 (22.18%)	148 (24.18%)	25 (12.5%)
CVA, N (% of column)	2384 (11.44%)	1405 (14.93%)	409 (14.11%)	19 (2.92%)	22 (6.25%)	216 (7.43%)	124 (8.27%)	68 (3.49%)	10 (9.09%)	29 (11.28%)	63 (10.29%)	19 (9.5%)
Dementia, N (% of column)	895 (4.29%)	534 (5.68%)	183 (6.31%)	12 (1.84%)	6 (1.7%)	51 (1.75%)	44 (2.94%)	31 (1.59%)	3 (2.73%)	6 (2.33%)	23 (3.76%)	2 (1%)
COPD, N (% of column)	5949 (28.54%)	3194 (33.95%)	963 (33.22%)	92 (14.13%)	61 (17.33%)	720 (24.76%)	294 (19.61%)	247 (12.69%)	40 (36.36%)	72 (28.02%)	225 (36.76%)	41 (20.5%)
Rheumatic Disease, N (% of column)	1156 (5.55%)	585 (6.22%)	103 (3.55%)	10 (1.54%)	13 (3.69%)	120 (4.13%)	170 (11.34%)	74 (3.8%)	9 (8.18%)	21 (8.17%)	21 (3.42%)	30 (15%)
PLUD, N (% of column)	473 (2.27%)	262 (2.78%)	85 (2.93%)	7 (1.08%)	5 (1.42%)	50 (1.72%)	25 (1.67%)	21 (1.08%)	1 (0.91%)	5 (1.95%)	9 (1.47%)	3 (1.5%)
Uncomplicated DA, N (% of column)	7763 (37.25%)	5074 (53.93%)	957 (33.01%)	0 (0%)	100 (28.41%)	829 (28.51%)	336 (22.41%)	149 (7.66%)	39 (35.45%)	87 (33.85%)	151 (24.67%)	41 (20.5%)
Complicated DA, N (% of column)	3708 (17.79%)	2531 (26.9%)	428 (14.76%)	0 (0%)	43 (12.22%)	353 (12.14%)	133 (8.87%)	84 (4.32%)	18 (16.36%)	39 (15.18%)	64 (10.46%)	15 (7.5%)
Hemiplegia, N (% of column)	305 (1.46%)	188 (1.98%)	44 (1.52%)	4 (0.61%)	3 (0.85%)	35 (1.2%)	16 (1.07%)	6 (0.31%)	0 (0%)	3 (1.17%)	8 (1.31%)	0 (0%)
Malnutrition, N (% of column)	3255 (15.81%)	1764 (18.75%)	360 (12.42%)	55 (8.45%)	69 (19.6%)	461 (15.85%)	143 (9.54%)	243 (12.49%)	13 (11.82%)	52 (20.23%)	113 (18.46%)	22 (11%)
Metastasis, N (% of column)	850 (4.08%)	516 (5.46%)	80 (2.76%)	14 (2.15%)	14 (3.98%)	37 (2.09%)	37 (2.47%)	69 (3.68%)	2 (1.82%)	11 (4.26%)	24 (3.92%)	5 (2.5%)
AIDS, N (% of column)	8 (0.04%)	3 (0.03%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	2 (0.57%)	1 (0.03%)	1 (0.07%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.16%)	0 (0%)
CKD, N (% of column)	3031 (14.54%)	1950 (20.73%)	388 (13.38%)	8 (1.23%)	42 (11.93%)	297 (10.21%)	126 (8.41%)	97 (4.98%)	19 (17.27%)	40 (15.56%)	50 (8.17%)	14 (7%)
CKD on HD, N (% of column)	721 (3.46%)	421 (4.47%)	85 (2.93%)	5 (0.77%)	17 (4.83%)	95 (3.27%)	28 (1.87%)	30 (1.54%)	6 (5.45%)	11 (4.28%)	22 (3.59%)	1 (0.5%)

Supplemental Table 3b

	Total	MASLD	METALD	ALD	HBV	HCV	Biliary	Other	Alcohol +	HCV +	Alcohol + HCV	Other 2+
Total N (% of row)	20842 (100%)	9408 (45.14%)	2899 (13.91%)	651 (3.12%)	352 (1.69%)	2908 (13.95%)	1499 (7.19%)	1946 (9.34%)	110 (0.53%)	257 (1.23%)	612 (2.94%)	200 (0.96%)
Platelet, observations (% of column)	6231 (29.9%)	2730 (29.02%)	909 (27.91%)	151 (23.2%)	129 (36.65%)	965 (33.18%)	508 (33.96%)	529 (27.16%)	45 (41.82%)	112 (43.58%)	168 (27.42%)	83 (41.5%)
Platelet, median (IQR)	163000 (125000)	185000 (125000)	181000 (135000)	162000 (128500)	175000 (112000)	157000 (16+05)	247000 (107000)	174000 (137000)	175500 (140000)	175500 (110500)	153500 (121500)	241000 (109000)
Sodium, observations (% of column)	7080 (33.97%)	3251 (34.56%)	921 (31.77%)	167 (25.65%)	141 (40.06%)	1037 (35.66%)	544 (36.29%)	578 (29.7%)	45 (40.91%)	121 (47.08%)	186 (30.39%)	89 (44.5%)
Sodium, median (IQR)	140 (3)	140 (4)	139 (4)	140 (4)	140 (2)	140 (3)	140 (3)	140 (3)	140 (4)	140 (4)	139 (4)	140 (4)
Creatinine, observations (% of column)	7300 (35.03%)	3357 (35.68%)	950 (32.77%)	177 (27.19%)	145 (41.19%)	1060 (36.45%)	563 (37.56%)	595 (30.58%)	47 (42.73%)	124 (48.25%)	189 (30.88%)	93 (46.5%)
Creatinine, median (IQR)	0.87 (0.35)	0.9 (0.4)	0.86 (0.36)	0.79 (0.27)	0.92 (0.34)	0.88 (0.33)	0.8 (0.27)	0.81 (0.28)	0.87 (0.41)	0.88 (0.33)	0.85 (0.3)	0.78 (0.28)
Albumin, observations (% of column)	7210 (34.59%)	3256 (34.61%)	913 (31.49%)	163 (25.04%)	139 (39.49%)	1065 (36.62%)	607 (40.49%)	604 (31.04%)	47 (42.73%)	127 (48.42%)	190 (31.05%)	99 (49.5%)
Albumin, median (IQR)	4.1 (0.7)	4 (0.7)	4 (0.8)	4 (0.8)	4.1 (0.55)	4.1 (0.5)	4.2 (0.5)	4.1 (0.6)	4.2 (0.7)	4.2 (0.7)	4 (0.8)	4.2 (0.55)
INR, observations (% of column)	2537 (12.17%)	1026 (10.91%)	273 (9.42%)	60 (9.22%)	53 (15.06%)	483 (16.61%)	181 (12.07%)	254 (13.05%)	22 (20%)	55 (21.4%)	93 (15.2%)	37 (18.5%)
INR, median (IQR)	1.1 (0.2)	1.1 (0.2)	1.1 (0.3)	1.1 (0.29)	1.1 (0.2)	1.1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.2)	1.1 (0.17)	1.1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.2)	1 (0.1)
Bilirubin, observations (% of column)	7004 (33.61%)	3128 (33.25%)	883 (30.46%)	160 (24.58%)	137 (38.92%)	1057 (36.35%)	592 (39.49%)	584 (30.01%)	45 (40.91%)	129 (50.19%)	191 (31.21%)	98 (49%)
Bilirubin, median (IQR)	0.6 (0.6)	0.6 (0.5)	0.7 (0.7)	0.85 (1.02)	0.7 (0.5)	0.6 (0.5)	0.5 (0.4)	0.7 (0.7)	0.7 (1.1)	0.6 (0.5)	0.7 (0.6)	0.6 (0.2)
MELD, observations (% of column)	1613 (7.74%)	629 (6.69%)	159 (5.48%)	41 (6.3%)	40 (11.36%)	322 (11.07%)	114 (7.61%)	171 (8.79%)	13 (11.82%)	34 (13.23%)	65 (10.62%)	25 (12.5%)
MELD, median (IQR)	11 (5)	11 (5)	13 (8)	13 (9)	10.5 (4)	11 (4)	10 (3.75)	11 (4)	12 (6)	10.5 (5.25)	11 (4)	11 (4)
AST, observations (% of column)	7129 (34.2%)	3181 (33.81%)	903 (31.15%)	170 (26.11%)	141 (40.06%)	1057 (36.35%)	614 (40.96%)	599 (30.78%)	48 (43.64%)	129 (50.19%)	186 (30.39%)	101 (50.5%)
AST, median (IQR)	31 (30)	30 (24)	34 (37.5)	34 (48.75)	27 (18)	37 (44)	28 (24.75)	33 (31)	42.5 (67.75)	36 (37)	51 (63)	33 (34)
ALT, observations (% of column)	7236 (34.72%)	3217 (34.19%)	910 (31.39%)	170 (26.11%)	143 (40.62%)	1095 (37.65%)	618 (41.23%)	605 (31.09%)	49 (44.55%)	132 (51.36%)	195 (31.86%)	102 (51%)
ALT, median (IQR)	28 (29)	26 (25)	27 (25)	27 (22)	27 (24)	34 (46.5)	28 (29)	29 (31)	32 (45)	32.5 (34)	43 (51.5)	32 (35)
AST/ALT ratio, observations (% of column)	7086 (34%)	3157 (33.56%)	890 (30.98%)	169 (25.96%)	141 (40.06%)	1052 (36.18%)	611 (40.78%)	594 (30.52%)	48 (43.64%)	129 (50.19%)	186 (30.39%)	101 (50.5%)
AST/ALT ratio, median (IQR)	1.16 (0.67)	1.16 (0.68)	1.33 (0.89)	1.46 (0.75)	1.06 (0.55)	1.12 (0.57)	1.05 (0.54)	1.14 (0.66)	1.16 (0.92)	1.06 (0.58)	1.25 (0.7)	1.05 (0.57)
FIB-4, observations (% of column)	5807 (27.86%)	2499 (26.56%)	755 (26.04%)	141 (21.66%)	124 (35.23%)	925 (31.81%)	482 (32.15%)	488 (25.08%)	41 (37.27%)	111 (43.19%)	161 (26.31%)	80 (40%)
FIB-4, median (IQR)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)



## Supplemental Tables 4a and 4b: Baseline Demographics of Patients with &lt;6 months of Follow-up

Supplemental Table 4a

	Total	MASLD	METALD	ALD	HBV	HCV	Biliary	Other	Alcohol +	HCV +	Alcohol + HCV	Other 2+
Total N (% of row)	23651 (100%)	11078 (46.84%)	3666 (15.5%)	810 (3.42%)	441 (1.86%)	2801 (11.84%)	1418 (6%)	2131 (9.01%)	172 (0.73%)	258 (1.09%)	713 (3.01%)	163 (0.69%)
Age: mean (SD)	62.4 (14.21)	66.33 (13.85)	61.28 (12.76)	53.26 (13.79)	56.72 (14.06)	61.14 (9.45)	58.24 (15.66)	55.26 (17.09)	57.6 (14.97)	59.02 (11.42)	59.98 (9.81)	53.34 (14.14)
18-64: N (% of column)	12410 (52.47%)	4507 (40.68%)	2080 (56.74%)	613 (75.68%)	300 (68.03%)	1742 (62.19%)	881 (62.13%)	1417 (66.49%)	111 (64.53%)	178 (68.99%)	465 (65.22%)	116 (71.17%)
65-69: N (% of column)	4335 (18.33%)	1998 (18.04%)	666 (18.17%)	109 (13.46%)	70 (15.87%)	651 (23.24%)	230 (16.22%)	349 (16.38%)	27 (15.7%)	49 (18.99%)	158 (22.16%)	28 (17.18%)
70-74: N (% of column)	2409 (10.19%)	1349 (12.18%)	386 (10.53%)	47 (5.8%)	33 (7.48%)	237 (8.46%)	111 (7.83%)	148 (6.85%)	10 (5.81%)	14 (5.43%)	66 (9.28%)	10 (6.13%)
75-79: N (% of column)	1788 (7.56%)	1175 (10.61%)	261 (7.12%)	25 (3.09%)	15 (3.4%)	100 (3.57%)	91 (6.42%)	80 (3.75%)	13 (7.56%)	7 (2.71%)	14 (1.96%)	7 (4.29%)
80+: N (% of column)	2709 (11.45%)	2049 (18.5%)	273 (7.45%)	16 (1.98%)	23 (5.22%)	71 (2.53%)	105 (7.4%)	139 (6.52%)	11 (6.4%)	10 (3.88%)	10 (1.4%)	2 (1.23%)
Male	13354 (56.46%)	5723 (51.66%)	2673 (72.91%)	542 (66.91%)	310 (70.29%)	1831 (65.37%)	290 (20.45%)	1124 (52.75%)	107 (62.21%)	162 (62.79%)	556 (77.98%)	36 (22.09%)
Years of follow up after index mean	0.24 (0.14)	0.24 (0.14)	0.23 (0.14)	0.23 (0.14)	0.24 (0.14)	0.25 (0.14)	0.24 (0.14)	0.23 (0.14)	0.25 (0.14)	0.24 (0.14)	0.23 (0.13)	0.23 (0.14)
Insurance Plan Type												
COM: N (% of column)	12386 (52.37%)	4767 (43.03%)	1937 (52.84%)	550 (67.9%)	306 (69.39%)	1659 (59.23%)	974 (68.69%)	1404 (65.88%)	114 (66.28%)	174 (67.44%)	369 (51.75%)	132 (80.98%)
MA: N (% of column)	10784 (45.6%)	6012 (54.27%)	1647 (44.93%)	256 (31.6%)	133 (30.16%)	1116 (39.84%)	418 (29.48%)	705 (33.08%)	54 (31.4%)	77 (29.84%)	338 (47.41%)	28 (17.18%)
Both: N (% of column)	481 (2.03%)	299 (2.7%)	82 (2.24%)	4 (0.49%)	2 (0.45%)	26 (0.93%)	26 (1.83%)	22 (1.03%)	4 (2.33%)	7 (2.71%)	6 (0.84%)	3 (1.84%)
Comorbidities												
Charlson: mean (SD)	6.02 (3.97)	7.29 (4.13)	5.75 (3.75)	3.42 (2.79)	4.73 (3.72)	5.05 (3.23)	4.19 (3.19)	4.07 (3.1)	5.56 (4.05)	5.01 (3.3)	5.46 (3.38)	3.93 (3.4)
Prior MI: N (% of column)	2228 (9.42%)	1429 (12.9%)	365 (9.96%)	12 (1.48%)	16 (3.63%)	174 (6.21%)	55 (3.88%)	72 (3.38%)	18 (10.47%)	17 (6.59%)	64 (8.98%)	6 (3.68%)
CHF: N (% of column)	5341 (22.58%)	3435 (31.01%)	847 (23.1%)	51 (6.3%)	55 (12.47%)	393 (14.03%)	136 (9.59%)	200 (9.39%)	46 (26.74%)	31 (12.02%)	135 (18.93%)	12 (7.36%)
PAD: N (% of column)	6533 (27.62%)	4113 (37.13%)	1074 (29.3%)	43 (5.31%)	71 (16.1%)	519 (18.53%)	176 (12.41%)	220 (10.32%)	49 (28.49%)	54 (20.93%)	191 (26.79%)	23 (14.11%)
CVA: N (% of column)	3297 (13.94%)	1989 (17.95%)	593 (16.18%)	36 (4.44%)	267 (5.93%)	118 (4.39%)	119 (8.39%)	102 (4.79%)	32 (18.6%)	25 (9.69%)	83 (11.64%)	13 (7.98%)
Dementia: N (% of column)	1459 (6.17%)	941 (8.49%)	275 (7.5%)	20 (2.47%)	14 (3.17%)	70 (2.5%)	47 (3.31%)	36 (1.69%)	6 (3.49%)	11 (4.26%)	37 (5.19%)	2 (1.23%)
COPD: N (% of column)	7659 (32.38%)	4197 (37.89%)	1335 (36.42%)	124 (15.31%)	82 (18.59%)	795 (28.38%)	309 (21.79%)	372 (17.46%)	58 (33.72%)	72 (27.91%)	280 (39.27%)	35 (21.47%)
Rheumatic Disease: N (% of column)	1340 (5.67%)	718 (6.48%)	151 (4.12%)	7 (0.86%)	16 (3.63%)	111 (3.96%)	166 (11.71%)	90 (4.22%)	14 (8.14%)	16 (6.2%)	30 (4.21%)	21 (12.88%)
PUD: N (% of column)	638 (2.7%)	335 (3.02%)	125 (3.41%)	14 (1.73%)	9 (2.04%)	49 (1.75%)	41 (2.89%)	27 (1.27%)	16 (9.3%)	9 (3.48%)	9 (1.26%)	4 (2.45%)
Uncomplicated DA: N (% of column)	8895 (37.61%)	5940 (53.62%)	1216 (33.17%)	0 (0%)	119 (26.95%)	784 (27.99%)	307 (21.65%)	172 (8.07%)	47 (27.33%)	81 (31.4%)	192 (26.93%)	37 (22.7%)
Complicated DA: N (% of column)	4439 (18.77%)	3128 (28.24%)	562 (15.33%)	0 (0%)	56 (12.7%)	349 (12.46%)	113 (7.97%)	74 (3.47%)	20 (11.63%)	28 (10.85%)	95 (13.32%)	14 (8.59%)
Hemiplegia: N (% of column)	499 (2.11%)	283 (2.55%)	94 (2.56%)	6 (0.74%)	4 (0.91%)	44 (1.57%)	12 (0.85%)	21 (0.99%)	3 (1.74%)	7 (2.71%)	24 (3.37%)	1 (0.61%)
Malignancy: N (% of column)	4343 (18.36%)	2502 (22.59%)	568 (15.49%)	78 (9.63%)	96 (21.77%)	448 (15.99%)	153 (10.79%)	288 (13.51%)	27 (15.7%)	49 (18.99%)	116 (16.27%)	18 (11.04%)
Metastasis: N (% of column)	1605 (6.79%)	1013 (9.14%)	197 (5.37%)	38 (4.69%)	26 (5.9%)	126 (4.5%)	44 (3.1%)	101 (4.74%)	10 (5.81%)	12 (4.65%)	33 (4.63%)	5 (3.07%)
AIDS: N (% of column)	2 (0.00%)	2 (0.02%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.23%)	1 (0.04%)	0 (0%)	1 (0.05%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	2 (0.28%)	0 (0%)
CKD: N (% of column)	4082 (17.26%)	2695 (24.33%)	579 (15.79%)	22 (2.72%)	58 (13.15%)	314 (11.21%)	132 (9.31%)	127 (5.96%)	27 (15.7%)	32 (12.4%)	86 (12.06%)	10 (6.13%)
CKD on HD: N (% of column)	1051 (4.44%)	676 (6.1%)	136 (3.71%)	8 (0.99%)	20 (4.54%)	116 (4.14%)	24 (1.69%)	32 (1.5%)	9 (5.23%)	9 (3.49%)	19 (2.66%)	2 (1.23%)

Supplemental Table 4b

	Total	MASLD	METALD	ALD	HBV	HCV	Biliary	Other	Alcohol +	HCV +	Alcohol + HCV	Other 2+
Total N (% of row)	23651 (100%)	11078 (46.84%)	3666 (15.5%)	810 (3.42%)	441 (1.86%)	2801 (11.84%)	1418 (6%)	2131 (9.01%)	172 (0.73%)	258 (1.09%)	713 (3.01%)	163 (0.69%)
Platelet: observations (% of column)	6196 (26.21%)	2870 (25.91%)	859 (23.4%)	130 (16.05%)	155 (35.15%)	894 (31.56%)	437 (30.82%)	472 (22.15%)	46 (26.74%)	101 (38.15%)	183 (25.67%)	62 (38.04%)
Platelet: median (IQR)	191500 (131000)	191000 (130000)	193000 (127750)	164500 (150000)	190000 (104000)	160500 (109000)	263000 (110000)	183000 (137250)	227500 (114500)	191000 (113000)	180000 (125000)	250500 (90000)
Sodium: observations (% of column)	7087 (29.96%)	3376 (30.47%)	1034 (28.21%)	143 (17.65%)	174 (39.46%)	976 (34.84%)	470 (33.15%)	506 (23.74%)	41 (23.84%)	107 (41.47%)	197 (27.63%)	63 (38.65%)
Sodium: median (IQR)	139 (4)	139 (4)	139 (5)	139 (5)	140 (3)	140 (3)	140 (3)	140 (4)	139 (4)	139 (3)	139 (4)	139 (4)
Creatinine: observations (% of column)	7299 (30.86%)	3476 (31.38%)	1069 (29.16%)	146 (18.02%)	176 (39.91%)	998 (35.63%)	489 (34.49%)	522 (24.5%)	45 (26.16%)	109 (42.25%)	205 (28.75%)	64 (39.26%)
Creatinine: median (IQR)	0.88 (0.37)	0.92 (0.44)	0.87 (0.35)	0.76 (0.29)	0.92 (0.28)	0.88 (0.3)	0.79 (0.26)	0.92 (0.31)	0.81 (0.27)	0.9 (0.36)	0.85 (0.31)	0.8 (0.3)
Albumin: observations (% of column)	7125 (30.13%)	3330 (30.06%)	1004 (27.39%)	154 (19.01%)	174 (39.46%)	993 (35.45%)	532 (37.52%)	514 (24.12%)	49 (28.46%)	107 (41.47%)	200 (28.05%)	68 (41.72%)
Albumin: median (IQR)	4.1 (0.7)	4 (0.8)	4.1 (0.7)	4.1 (0.8)	4.35 (0.6)	4.1 (0.7)	4.2 (0.43)	4.1 (0.7)	4.2 (1)	4.2 (0.45)	4.1 (0.8)	4.1 (0.53)
INR: observations (% of column)	2417 (10.22%)	992 (8.95%)	312 (8.51%)	58 (7.16%)	62 (14.06%)	441 (15.74%)	154 (10.86%)	210 (9.85%)	13 (7.56%)	47 (18.22%)	97 (13.6%)	31 (19.02%)
INR: median (IQR)	1.1 (0.2)	1.1 (0.21)	1.1 (0.3)	1.1 (0.28)	1.1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.17)	1 (0)	1.1 (0.2)	1 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	1.1 (0.2)	1 (0)
Bilirubin: observations (% of column)	6884 (29.11%)	3189 (28.79%)	960 (26.19%)	150 (18.52%)	172 (39%)	998 (35.63%)	498 (35.12%)	500 (23.46%)	47 (27.33%)	112 (43.41%)	193 (27.07%)	65 (39.88%)
Bilirubin: median (IQR)	0.6 (0.6)	0.6 (0.6)	0.7 (0.8)	1 (1.3)	0.7 (0.6)	0.7 (0.6)	0.5 (0.3)	0.6 (0.7)	0.6 (0.85)	0.6 (0.4)	0.6 (0.7)	0.5 (0.3)
MELD: observations (% of column)	1626 (6.87%)	649 (5.86%)	203 (5.54%)	43 (5.31%)	46 (10.43%)	325 (11.6%)	93 (6.56%)	147 (6.9%)	6 (3.49%)	33 (12.79%)	62 (8.7%)	19 (11.66%)
MELD: median (IQR)	11 (5)	11 (7)	12 (9)	13 (6.5)	10 (2)	11 (3)	10 (4)	11 (5)	11 (8)	11 (3)	12 (6)	11 (6.5)
AST: observations (% of column)	7069 (29.89%)	3283 (29.64%)	1001 (27.3%)	155 (19.14%)	178 (40.36%)	995 (35.52%)	533 (37.59%)	506 (23.74%)	47 (27.33%)	107 (41.47%)	197 (27.63%)	67 (41.1%)
AST: median (IQR)	33 (38)	31 (30)	37 (49)	45 (79.5)	27 (5.2375)	40 (61)	29 (27)	32 (32)	32 (35)	34 (39)	41 (68)	30 (27)
ALT: observations (% of column)	7161 (30.28%)	3313 (29.91%)	1006 (27.44%)	155 (19.14%)	179 (40.59%)	1018 (36.38%)	535 (37.73%)	522 (24.5%)	47 (27.33%)	116 (44.96%)	202 (28.33%)	67 (41.1%)
ALT: median (IQR)	28 (34)	28 (28)	29 (33)	36 (38.5)	28 (27)	36 (56)	30 (36)	30 (32)	28 (23.5)	34.5 (51.75)	39.5 (54.5)	33 (36.5)
AST/ALT ratio: observations (% of column)	7033 (29.74%)	3264 (29.46%)	996 (27.17%)	155 (19.14%)	178 (40.36%)	988 (35.27%)	530 (37.38%)	505 (23.7%)	46 (26.74%)	107 (41.47%)	197 (27.63%)	67 (41.1%)
AST/ALT ratio: median (IQR)	1.15 (0.71)	1.17 (0.71)	1.3 (0.91)	1.45 (1.19)	1 (0.47)	1.11 (0.61)	0.99 (0.47)	1.12 (0.72)	1.12 (0.7)	1.03 (0.54)	1.18 (0.79)	0.95 (0.53)
FIB-4: observations (% of column)	5721 (24.19%)	2614 (23.6%)	800 (21.82%)	124 (15.31%)	147 (33.33%)	837 (29.88%)	413 (29.13%)	425 (19.94%)	40 (23.26%)	96 (37.21%)	165 (23.14%)	60 (36.81%)
FIB-4: median (IQR)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0.01)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)

# Supplemental Tables 5a and 5b: Model Calibration for 6- and 12-month Decompensation

## Prediction

Supplemental Table 5a

	Groups	Patients	Observed	Predicted Probability	Predicted Probability, interactions model
1 Age	<47	4518	0.04	0.036	0.037
2	47-65	22905	0.055	0.052	0.052
3	>65	37138	0.057	0.056	0.056
4 Sex	M	32403	0.056	0.056	0.056
5	F	32158	0.054	0.05	0.051
6 Etiology	MASLD	34108	0.055	0.054	0.054
7	HCV	5767	0.048	0.048	0.049
8	ALD	1452	0.074	0.085	0.085
9	METALD	8989	0.072	0.065	0.063
10	Biliary	4907	0.024	0.023	0.025
11	HBV	1019	0.031	0.027	0.027
12	Alcohol +	432	0.062	0.041	0.041
13	HCV +	556	0.045	0.038	0.038
14	Alcohol + HCV	1482	0.061	0.066	0.067
15	Other 2+	613	0.019	0.021	0.021
16	Other	5236	0.064	0.056	0.056
17 MELD score	Low (<15)	4776	0.051	0.049	0.049
18	Medium (15-25)	653	0.107	0.114	0.117
19	High (>25)	62	0.097	0.128	0.133
20	Missing MELD	59070	0.055	0.052	0.053
21 Charleson Comorbidities Index	Mild (1-2)	6050	0.034	0.039	0.04
22	Moderate (3-4)	16025	0.044	0.046	0.046
23	Severe (5 or more)	42486	0.062	0.057	0.057
24 Predicted Risk	First quartile	16141	0.025	0.024	0.024
25	Second quartile	16140	0.043	0.045	0.044
26	Third quartile	16140	0.06	0.055	0.056
27	Fourth quartile	16140	0.091	0.088	0.088

Supplemental Table 5b

	Groups	Patients	Observed	Predicted Probability	Predicted Probability, interactions model
1 Age	<47	3825	0.088	0.079	0.079
2	47-65	20003	0.119	0.113	0.113
3	>65	33401	0.12	0.121	0.121
4 Sex	M	28474	0.119	0.12	0.12
5	F	28755	0.116	0.11	0.111
6 Etiology	MASLD	30370	0.12	0.118	0.119
7	HCV	5118	0.095	0.101	0.102
8	ALD	1196	0.17	0.187	0.187
9	METALD	7864	0.148	0.142	0.139
10	Biliary	4416	0.06	0.053	0.055
11	HBV	915	0.071	0.074	0.075
12	Alcohol +	384	0.086	0.086	0.09
13	HCV +	500	0.068	0.079	0.08
14	Alcohol + HCV	1288	0.122	0.138	0.14
15	Other 2+	549	0.064	0.055	0.056
16	Other	4629	0.136	0.122	0.124
17 MELD score	Low (<15)	4358	0.113	0.107	0.109
18	Medium (15-25)	556	0.203	0.217	0.221
19	High (>25)	54	0.185	0.233	0.231
20	Missing MELD	52261	0.117	0.115	0.115
21 Charleson Comorbidities	Mild (1-2)	5132	0.074	0.086	0.087
22	Moderate (3-4)	14206	0.093	0.104	0.103
23	Severe (5 or more)	37891	0.133	0.123	0.124
24 Predicted Risk	First quartile	14308	0.058	0.055	0.054
25	Second quartile	14307	0.097	0.1	0.099
26	Third quartile	14307	0.13	0.122	0.125
27	Fourth quartile	14307	0.187	0.183	0.183



Supplemental Figure Legends

Supplemental Figure 1: Diagram depicting the method of classifying cirrhosis etiology for individuals within the cohort. Abbreviations: ALD: alcohol associated liver disease; Alcohol+: alcohol associated liver disease plus another cirrhosis etiology; Alcohol+HCV: alcohol associated liver disease and hepatitis C virus associated liver disease; HBV: hepatitis B associated cirrhosis; HCV: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis; HCV+: hepatitis C virus associated cirrhosis plus another cirrhosis etiology; MASLD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease; MetALD: metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease with increased alcohol intake; MI: myocardial infarction; Other: one other cirrhosis etiology not otherwise specified; Other 2+: two or more other cirrhosis etiologies not otherwise specified

Supplemental Figure 2: Model calibration table showing model performance with and without interaction terms between cirrhosis etiologies and comorbidities.

Supplemental Figures 3a-3d: Plot demonstrating the prediction of risk based on MELD, platelets, AST to ALT ratio, and FIB-4 models compared to our model. Darker dots indicate patients that classified as high risk whereas lighter dots represent patients classified as having lower risk. Abbreviations: MELD: model for end stage liver disease 3.0; AST: aspartate transaminase; ALT: alanine transaminase; FIB-4: index for liver fibrosis 4

Supplemental Figures 4a and 4b: Receiver-operating curves showing 6- and 12-month decompensation prediction model discrimination

Supplemental Figures

Supplemental Figure 1: Cirrhosis Etiology Classification Diagram

Supplemental Figure 2: Model Calibration with and without Interaction Terms

Supplemental Figures 3a-3d: Net Reclassification Plot

Supplemental Figures 4a and 4b: Receive-Operating Curves for 6- and 12-month  
Decompensation Prediction Models

**Commented [PBM25]:** where are these? and how do we write about these?